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DEAR FELLOW STOCKHOLDERS,
Hostess Brands completed 2021 as a more profitable, capable and sustainable company as we continued our journey to 
becoming the most respected snack company. We believe our record financial performance is a testament to the power of 
our brands, our advantaged business model, and our team’s agility as we executed at a high level in an exceedingly dynamic 
environment. Our broad-based sales growth across multiple occasions and sales channels was driven by strong new product 
innovation, increased marketing investments, and excellent retail execution. We delivered outstanding service to our retail 
partners and maintained industry leading margins while navigating multi-year high inflation headwinds given one of the 
toughest operating environments in decades. We are proud of the resiliency and passion of the Hostess Brands team and 
look forward to another successful year in 2022.
Key accomplishments in 2021 included:  

$203 Million 
2021 Annual Operating Cash Flow  

12.0% Growth
2021 Annual Adjusted EBITDA*

11.6% Growth 
2021 Annual Adjusted Net Revenue*

We inspire
moments of joy
by putting our

into everything
we do!

Andrew P. Callahan
President & Chief Executive Officer

  Certain Statements herein are forward looking statements. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements” in our Form 10-K included in this
Annual Report.

 * Adjusted measures above are non-GAAP financial measures that exclude certain items which affect comparability. Refer to Item 7 Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Form 10-K included in this Annual Report for a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial
measures to their respective comparable GAAP measures.

 ** Source: Total Nielsen Universe for the Company

 ^ Source: Total incident reports for manufacturing

We delivered these results due largely to the hard work and dedication of our great people, who work relentlessly to make 
Hostess Brands the great company it is today. Our people are our greatest asset, and I am extremely proud that we have 
made our already industry-leading safety record^ even better in 2021. We continue to invest in upgrading capabilities and 
talent throughout the organization, and although we have much more to accomplish on this journey, I know we are heading 
in the right direction as we were recently named as one of Forbes top places to work for mid-sized companies and one of 
the top 100 places to work for Veterans. 
The foundation of Hostess Brands has never been stronger, and I have never been more excited about our capabilities to 
catapult to our next phase of growth.  We are just getting started. We recognize that success is not just about goals but 
sustained and measured progress year after year. As we look forward, we are confident in our ability to generate top-tier 
shareholder returns as we work to deliver our long-term growth algorithm of mid-single digit organic revenue growth, 5-7% 
EBITDA growth and 7-9% EPS growth. We are committed to accomplishing this in a responsible way for all our stakeholders.

• Adjusted net revenue growth of 11.6% and adjusted EBITDA growth of 12.0%*;
• Hostess Brands point-of-sale (POS) growth of 14.4% in the Sweet Baked Goods category, leading to 

187 basis points increase in our market share**;
• Expanded Voortman® distribution, leading to 18% POS growth, more than 4x the Cookie category**;
• Significant growth from recent innovation, including Baby Bundts, the #1 new product launch in the

Sweet Baked Goods category in 2021**;
• Successful implementation of multiple pricing actions and other revenue management initiatives to

offset high inflation and maintain our industry-leading margin structure;
• Operating cash flow of $203.0 million, 27.5% above year-ago levels; and net leverage of 3.1x at the

end of 2021, improving from 3.9x at the end of 2020;
• Installation of a new cake production line, while announcing plans in early 2022 to build a new more 

efficient and capable bakery to support growth;
• Cashless settlement of all remaining warrants, significantly simplifying our capital structure; and
• Issuance of our 1st Corporate Responsibility Report.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Reporte on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”)e contains statements rtt eflectingff our views aww bout our future
performance that constitute “forwar“ d-looking statements”tt within thett meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1o 934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements ctt ontained in thitt s Aii nnual Reporte
other thantt statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future results ott f oo perato ions and financial
position, our business strategye and plans, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements.tt
Statements that constitute forwff ard-looking statements are generally ill dentifii ed through the inclusion of words such
as “believes,” “expecx ts,” “intends,” “estimates,” “projects,” “anticipatei s,” “will,” “plan,” “may,” “should,” or
similar language. StatSS ements addressing our future operating performanceff and statements att ddressing events att nd
developments ttt hattt we expecx t or anticipatei will occur are also considered as forwff ard-looking statements. All
forward-looking statements itt ncluded herein are made only as of the date hereof. It is routine for our internal
projections and expecx tations to change throughout the year, and any forward-looking statements btt ased upon these
projections or expecx tations may change prior to the end of the nextee quarter or year. Readers of this Annual Reporte
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements.tt As a result of a number of ko nowkk n
and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results ott r performancff e may be materially differeff nt from those
expressedx or implied by tb hett se forward-looking statements. Risksii and uncertainties are identifii ed and discussed in
Item 1A-Risk Factors in this Aii nnual Report.e All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements att ttributtt able
to us or persons acting on our behalf al re expresslyx qualifii ed in their entirety by these risk factors. We undertake no
obligatii on to update any forward-looking statement, wt hether as a result of new information, future events,tt or
otherwise. TheTT discussion and analysisyy of our financial condition and results ott f oo peratio ons included in IteII m 7-
Management’s Discussion and Analysisll of Financial Condition and Results ott f Oo peratiO ons should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements att nd related notes included in IteII m 8 of this Annual Report.e

Explanatory Note

Hostess Brands, Inc. (f/k/a Gores Holdings, Inc.) was originally incorporated in Delaware on June 1, 2015 as a
special purpose acquisition company and consummated its initial public offering, on August 19, 2015, following
which its shares began trading on the Nasdaq Capia tal Market (“Nasdaq”).

On November 4, 2016, in a transaction referred to as the “Hostess Business Combination,” Gores Holdings, Inc.
acquired a controlling interest in Hostess Holdings, L.P. (“Hostess Holdings”), an entity owned indirectly by C.
Dean Metropoulos (the “Metropoulos Entities”) and certain equity funds managed by affiliates of Apollo Global
Management, LLC.

In connection with the closing of the Hostess Business Combination, Gores Holdings, Inc. changed its name to
Hostess Brands, Inc. and its trading symbols on Nasdaq fromff “GRSH” and “GRSHW,” to “TWNK” and
“TWNKW”.
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PART I
Item 1. Business

Who We Are

Hostess Brands, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries) (“We” or the “Company”) is a leading sweet snacks companym
focused on manufacturing, marketing, and distributing snack products in North America sold primarily under the
Hostess® and Voortman® brands. We produce a variety of new and classic treats including iconic Hostess®
Donettes®, Twinkies®, CupCakes, Ding Dongs®, and Zingers®, as well as Voortman® branded cookies and
wafers. Our mission is to inspire moments of joy by putting our into everything we do. We seek to leverage our
iconic brands, pricing power, impacm tful innovation, efficient manufacturing and distribution model, collaborata ive
customer and strategic sourcing partnerships, and strong cash flows to drive profitable and sustained growth.

Our business operates in growing categories and snacking occasions, with our best-in-class business model,
consumer insights and strong marketing and innovation capabia lities. Our Sweet Baked Goods (“SBG”) products
represented 21.3% of their category according to Nielsen total universe for the 52-weeks ended January 1, 2022. Our
cookie and wafer products represented 1.9% of the adjacent Cookie category, providing a significant opportunity for
growth. We believe our strong brand history and market position in the growing spaces in which we compete,
combined with our innovative spirit and scalable operating model, provide a strong platform to execute our growth
initiatives.

We have invested significantly in retailer and consumer data analytics to identify new opportunities in the spaces in
which we compete. These investments, combined with our Direct-to-Warehouse (“DTW”) distribution model,
support our leading brand position within the $7.3 billion U.S. SBG category and the adjacent $7.7 billion Cookie
category and have increased our reach, paving a path towards futuret sustained, profitablea growth.

Our DTW distribution model uses centralized distribution centers and common carriers to fill orders, with products
generally delivered to our customers’ warehouses. This model has eliminated the need forff direct-store-delivery
(“DSD”) routes and drivers, which allows us to expand our core distribution while gaining access to new channels.

Brands and Products

Hostess® has been an iconic American brand for generations. Our extensive portfolio of timeless and universally
recognized names such as Twinkies®, Ho Hos® and Ding Dongs® evokes an emotional affinity with consumers
that has the potential to be further unlocked through effective marketing and occasion and consumer-insight based
innovation. We produce under our Voortman® brand, which we acquired in 2020, cookie and creme wafer products,
including sugar-free varieties. We also produce Dolly Madison®, Cloverhill® and Big Texas® branded products.
Our classic treats target different spaces and consumer needs.
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Our Growth Strategy

We execute against our growth strategy and strengthen our Hostess® and Voortman® brands by focusing on faster-
growing snacking occasions through innovation, marketing, strategic sourcing partnerships and strong partnerships
with our customers. We leverage our highly efficient and profitable business model and productivity initiatives to
maintain the momentum of our growth fly-wheel, while unlocking our balance sheet to pursue strategic
opportunities.

Our Business Sitsii in Growing Spaces

We compete in growing snacking categories. The $91 billion sweet snacking universe has grown at an annual rate of
4.8% over the last three years1. The number of consumers eating five or more snacks per day has increased double
digits since 20182.

The U.S. SBG and Cookie categories combined are a signififf cant portion of this universe, with retail sales of
$15 billion according to the Nielsen U.S. total universe for the 52-weeks ended January 1, 2022. The SBG category
includes breakfast items (e.g., donuts, breakfast danishes and muffins) and all-day snacking items (e.g., snack cakes,
pies, bars and brownies). Our Voortman® branded cookies and wafer products are included in the Cookie categoryrr
and provide another platform to capita alize on the on-going growth in snacking. Voortman’s products are in the
specialty cookie segment and benefit from consumer demand for better-for-you ingredients. With consumers
snacking to satisfy hunger, provide an emotional lift and increase social connection, we believe our product portfolio
is well positioned to benefit from these broader snacking trends.

We believe that we have maintained the Hostess® brand equity and high awareness for over a century by satisfying
consumers’ needs for great-tasting sweet treats. We have established our leadership position in the SBG category
through the strength and quality of our products, developing and promoting brands and pricing our products at a
reasonable premium to other snacking alternatives.

We plan to capitalize on the strength of our brands and our effective retailer economics to drive growth by attracting
new consumers through wide-scale availabila ity, meaningful innovation and targeted marketing. Our market share
gains are expected to come fromff attracting new consumers within our target consumer occasions through our
continued investment in quality, targeted marketing, product innovation and a focusff on our most effective brands
and products. Our brand strategy, combined with investments in highly effective marketing and brand-building, has
resulted in what we believe to be one of the strongest brand equities in snacking, evidenced by our 92% brand
awareness for Hostess®3.

We continue to launch new partnerships and enter into licensing agreements that leverage our iconic brands. We
have partnered with companies in various industries to bring our iconic brands and flavor profiles to complementary
products such as popcorn and pudding mixes. Our Voortman® branded products are sold throughout the U.S. and
Canada. Both our Hostess® and Voortman® products are distributed by third parties internationally, including
products packaged specifically for Mexico and the United Kingdom, among others. In addition, our products are
also sold on various e-commerce platforms.

We understand the need to continually evolve while maintaining the traditional offerings our loyal consumer base
has come to know and love. We continue to invest in new product development, building our long-term innovation
pipeline and leveraging our portfolio and commercialization process to bring new products to market in a timely
fashion.
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Best in Cii lassCC Businesii s ModelMM

Our business model is based on the wide availability of our products and unique go-to-market approaa ch, both
enablea d by our DTW distribution model. The DTW model uses centralized distribution and common carriers. We
ship the majora ity of our products fromff a centralized distribution center in Edgerton, Kansas. Centralizing our
distribution improvesm visibility and control of distribution and is a key component of our operating model. We
utilize other smaller distribution centers focused on certain products or geographica areas. The distribution centers
allow us to consolidate inventory and fill customer orders, while reducing overall inventory on-hand as a result of
this centralized consolidation of inventory. The majora ity of our products are delivered to customers’ warehouses
from the distribution centers using common carriers.

The DTW model is enabled by our extended shelf life (“ESL”) technology. As a result of our DTW model, we do
not keep a significant backlog of finished goods inventory, as our bakery products are promptly shipped to our
distribution centers after being produced. Some of our products are shipped frozeff n at the request of certain
customers.

We believe our DTW distribution model allows our products to be everywhere consumers shop for snacks. It
provides greater reach into convenience and drug stores. Distributing to these channels under a DSD model can be
inefficient due to small average drop size. Historically, DSD sweet baked goods companies have competed with
candy and tobacco companim es for distribution; however, under our DTW model, we partner with third-party
distributors to profitably penetrate both the convenience store and drug store channels. In 2021, the convenience and
drug channels accounted for 31.3% of our net revenue. We have established a strong presence and market share in
the convenience and drug channels and are focused on continuously expanding coverage. These partnerships further
expand our distribution reach in a highly efficient manner, and we believe they will add to our growth potential
going forward.

We believe that impulse purchase decisions are another fundamff ental driver of our retail sales, which makes
prominent in-store placement importam nt. The DTW and centralized distribution model provides us with a
competitive advantage through the ability to utilize retail-ready corrugate displays. These pre-built displays are
visually impactful, economically produced and require minimal in-store labor to assemble or load; thus providing
cost-efficient display vehicles that benefit both us and the retailer. Preloaded displays also allow us full control over
our branded merchandising and the ability to execute retailer-wide campaigns regionally or nationally in a consistent
manner, providing a unique competitive advantage across the entire SBG category, which our competitors
predominantly serve through a DSD model.

We have a tailored channel-based go-to-market model that demonstrates key capabia lities for growth. We continue to
invest in data capabilities, which enablea focus on store-level complim ance and growth opportunities with our Hostess
Partner Program (“HPP”). We also have a unique consortium retail merchandising approaa ch where we partner with
brokers to drive in-store performance at lower costs, ensuring strong shelf presence and sending a stream of retail
and customer data back to our marketing and sales teams.

Our business model is supported by cost-advantaged manufacturing and distribution, expanded channel/retail store
reach and enhanced in-store merchandising capabilities and offers our retail partners attractive margins that
incentivize further distribution of our products.

We continue to invest in the business to furtheff r our strategic initiatives. Our disciplined capita al investment plan
focuses on operational capabia lities that directly supportu or expand our growth and innovation with strong returntt on
investment metrics. We are making targeted investments in the production capaca ity to enablea further expansion of
our fastest growing product forms. Further, we anticipate continued investment in automation, which allows for
improvedm product quality, consistency and efficff iency.

Consumer CapaCC bilitll iett s

We leverage our consumer capabilities to drive incremental growth above the category. We strive to meet our
consumers at their need states with innovative products and cultivate top-of-mind awareness through efficient digital
advertising.
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Innovation is key to fueling our growth. We are devoted to maintaining our iconic brands while contemporizm ing
them in order to stay relevant with our consumer base and attract new consumers. We believe that to support our
market position, we must continually evolve with changing consumer preferences and trends. We are focused on
continuing to innovate and expand our core products by launching new flavors of iconic products and expanding
new product forms, pack-sizes and packaging to target faster growing snacking occasions and drive incremental
revenue and profit. Our Hostess® Bouncers, which are expected to launch in summer 2022, provide the consumer
the same iconic Hostess® cake and filling flavors in a fun,ff poppable, portablea form. Our Hostess® Boost Jumbo
Donettes®, which contain the caffeineff equivalent of one cup of coffee, launched in the convenience store channel in
February 2022 and are on-trend with consumer needs to energize while on the go. The success of our product
innovation is in part driven by deeper understanding of consumers’ snacking occasions and providing awareness and
trials by partnering with our customers, all while maintaining our iconic brands and product quality.

Our acquisition of Voortman provides us opportunities to respond to additional consumer preferences. Our
Hostess® Crispy Minis products were introduced in late 2020 and leverage Voortman’s production capabia lities,
extending the Hostess® brand into a new bite-size wafer form. In January 2022, we launched Voortman® sugar-free
mini cookies and peanut butter wafers, both targeting incremental, younger, health-conscious consumers.

We are increasing our digital advertising to efficiently reach consumers. Our analysis shows that simply reminding
consumers about Hostess® could drive incremental sales. As opposed to more traditional media, digital advertising
provides us the flexibility and agility to invest in more targeted areas and demographics as we learn about the impact
of our programs. This results in an efficient, high-returntt investment that we expect will drive continued growth.

Execute Stt trateSS gice Acquisitionstt to Acceleratell Growth

We have a solid platformff for growth through acquisitions. Within the broader snacking universe the opportunity
exists to drive value creation through acquisitions by leveraging our brand, infrastructuret and performance-driven
management culture. We are committed to seeking out opportunities that add new capabia lities to our already broad
offerings.

The acquisition of Voortman in January 2020 diversified and expanded our product offerings and manufacturing
capabia lities in the attractive, adjacent $7.7 billion Cookie category (based on Nielsen data as of January 1, 2022).
The acquisition also leverages our broad customer reach and lean and agile business model. During 2020, we
integrated Voortman’s distribution model into our DTW structure,tt with all Voortman U.S. sales shipping through
our centralized distribution center. In addition to sharing establia shed, efficient infrastructure, sales of Voortman®
brand products have benefited from the strengthening of collaborata ive retail partnerships in the United States and
Canada.

As we explore other strategic acquisition opportunities, we will consider our ability to leverage our core capaa bila ities
to reinvigorate acquired brands and further expand within the wider snacking universe. We will also consider our
ability to integrate acquisitions with our existing business and the opportunities to generate synergies through
leveraging our existing assets and warehouse model. The successful integration of Voortman exhibits our ability to
execute and integrate acquisitions in adjacent categories. We believe our scale, access to capita al and management
experience will allow us to execute and integrate additional acquisitions.

Competittt ivtt e Landscape

We compete in the broad snacking universe with a focus on sweet snacks within targeted consumer snacking
occasions. Hostess® is the #2 brand in the U.S. SBG category, according to Nielsen retail data. The top three brands,
Little Debbie, Hostess® and Entenmann’s account for 66% of the SBG retail sales, while the rest of the category
remains fairly fragmented. With limited private labea l penetration in the category, consumers have shown a strong
preference forff trusted brands within the SBG category. The leading positions are solidified through extensive
product portfolios, strong brand awareness, establia shed distribution capabia lities and long-standing relationships with
critical high-volume retailers. Furthermore, high levels of capital investment, required to establia sh manufacturing
and distribution capaa bila ities of meaningful scale, provide additional barriers to entry.

Voortman® has the #1 creme wafer and sugar-free cookie products within the larger Cookie category. Nabisco® is
the top brand with approximately 43% of the category according to Nielsen. There is higher private labela penetration
in the Cookie category than the SBG category.
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We face competition fromff other brands, large national bakeries, smaller regional operators and supermarket chains
with their own private labela brands. The key competitive factors in the industry include product quality, price, brand
recognition and loyalty, promotional activities, access to retail outlets, sufficient shelf-space and ability to identify
and satisfy consumer preferences. Some of our largest national competitors include Flowers Foods, Inc., Grupo
Bimbo, S.A., McKee Foods Corporation and Mondelez International, Inc. In addition, we also compete with
regional manufacturers and other companim es that produce cookies, candies and other snacks. At times, we
experience pricing pressure in certain markets fromff competitor promotions and other pricing practices. However, we
believe our brand recognition, product quality and innovation have generated consumer loyalty to many of our
products which helps mitigate this impacm t.

Seasonalitll ytt

SBG revenues tend to be moderately seasonal, with declines during the early winter period, which we believe are
attributable to altered consumption patterns during the holiday season. We expect this trend to continue to be
applicable to our business. We strive to mitigate the seasonality by running certain targeted promotional campaigns.

COVID-19

We continue to monitor the impact of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and adjust our operations in
response. As discussed further below, as well as in “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7, we have taken and continue to
take actions to respond to the disruptions caused by COVID-19 and to protect the health and well-being of our entire
team, their families and the communities we serve.

Production

We have an effiff cient, agile, resilient and scalable model that delivers quality results. Our products are primarily
produced at fiveff bakeries located in Emporia, Kansas; Columbus, Georgia; Indianapolis, Indiana; Chicago, Illinois;
and Burlington, Ontario. Our state of the art auto-bake technologies have resulted in significant energy, labora and
time savings. The technology provides fullff y-automated industrial baking ovens and systems, combining cost
efficient, compact and continuous baking solutions that can be custom configured. Additionally, we have made high-
ROI investments with the installation of new Donette® and cake lines in 2020 and 2021. The majora ity of our
products are shipped through a centralized distribution center in Edgerton, Kansas. This facff ility was opened in 2020
and has expanded our distribution capaca ity by 75% and removed two million miles fromff our distribution network.

With the increase in demand for our products, we continue to make adjustments to our production schedules,
product assortment and equipment to maximize production capaca ity in our existing facilities. We are diligent in our
efforts to findff opportunities to reduce complem xity and drive value within our supply chain. A portion of our products
are manufactured and packaged by third parties under our brands and distributed through our facilities.

Raw Materials

Our principal raw materials are cooking oil, sugar, coatings and flour, as well as corrugate and films used to package
our products. We utilize various buying strategies to lock in prices for certain raw materials and packaging to reduce
the impact of commodity price flucff tuations. In addition, we are dependent on naturaltt gas as fuel for firing our ovens.
Our third-party common carriers use gasoline and diesel as fuel for their trucks.

We approach sourcing with a holistic strategy to acquire the best quality ingredients and packaging materials at the
lowest possible cost. We have strategic, long-term relationships with our key suppliers for our raw materials and
packaging that help leverage our buying power. While the cost of some raw materials has, and may continue to
increase over time, we believe that we will be able to purchase an adequate supply of raw materials as needed. We
also sole source certain raw materials for efficff iency. We have multiple vendors that meet our supplysupply irequirements
for hthe majorjora ityity of our lsole sourced id i gngredidients. With respect to the sole sourced ingredients for which we do not
have multiple vendors to meet our supply requirements, including certain enzymes used in our ESL technology, we
are evaluating alternative sources in order to maintain business continuity and flexibility.
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CCustomers

Our top 10 customers in 2021 accounted for 59.5% of total net revenue. During 2021, our largest customer, Wal-
Mart and related entities, represented 18.9% of our net revenue. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of
2021 net revenue. The loss of, or a material negative change in, our relationship with Wal-Mart or any of our other
top 10 customers could have a material adverse effect on our business. Our customers include mass merchandisers,
supermarkets and other retailers and distributors, convenience, drug and dollar stores.

Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectualt property has substantial value and has contributed to the success of our business. In
particular, our trademarks, including our registered Hostess®, Voortman®, Dolly Madison®, Cloverhill®, and Big
Texas® brand trademarks and our sub-brand trademarks, including Twinkies®, Ding Dongs®, Ho Hos®, Zingers®,
Sno Balls®, and Donettes®, are valuablea assets that we believe reinforce our consumers’ favorable perception of our
products. These trademarks have a perpetrr ualtt life, subject to renewal. This provides us the opportunity to sell our
products at premium price points and pursue licensing opportunities.

From time to time, third parties have used names similar to ours, have applied to register trademarks similar to ours
and, we believe, have infringed or misappropriated our intellectualt property rights. Third parties have also, from
time to time, opposed our trademarks and challenged our intellectualtt property rights. We respond to these actions on
a case-by-case basis. We rely on laws and regulations, as well as contractualt restrictions, to protect our intellectualt
property and proprietary rights.

Research and Development

The majora ity of our research and development spend is dedicated to the development of innovative snack products
based on consumer insights and process technology. These products help address new user occasions and seek to
bring new consumers into the category based on changing preferences and trends. Through the development
timeline, research guidance testing to optimize attributes based on appropriate taste, flavor and texture combined
with efficient cost management, helps support our growth. In addition, our research and development organization
provides technical support to our manufacturing team to ensure that our core products are consistently produced in
accordance with our specifications and high standards of quality. Finally, our research and development department
is charged with developing processes to optimize our costs without adversely affecting the quality of our products.
During 2020, we opened an innovation lab wa ithin our Lenexa, Kansas corporate office. This lab provides us
increased rapid prototyping, speed to market and small-scale batch process experimentation along with the testing
capabilia ties, analytics and market research insights needed to support our growth objectives.

Government Regulation

Our operations, including the manufacturing, processing, formulating, packaging, labela ing and advertising of
products, are subject to regulation by various federal agencies, including the Food and Drug Administration (the
“FDA”), the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”), and the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”), as
well as the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (the “CFIA”) and Health Canada for Canadian Operations. Our
products are subject to various local, state, and federal laws, regulations and administrative practices affecting our
business. We must comply with provisions regulating registrations and licensing, health and sanitation standards,
ingredient standards, current Good Manufacturing Practices and traceability, hazard analysis and risk-based
preventative controls, food labela ing and advertising, hazard reporting and recall requirements, equal employment,
wage and hour requirements, and environmental protection, among others. Also, we are subject to compliance with
movement restrictions and other efforts by local governments to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. We take
compliance and the safety of our products and employees seriously and take all steps that we consider necessary or
appropriate to comply with all applicablea laws, rules and regulations.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2021, we employed approximately 2,600 people. Of our total workforce, approxia mately 91%
were located at our bakeries. The remaining workers comprised functions including operations management, sales
and supply chain, among other corporate functions.
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Health & SafSS etff ytt

Safety remains our top priority, and we are proud to have achieved the best safety rt esults in our over eight year
history. We have improvedm our total safety rt ecord four years running, with 2021 results forff key metrics scoring best
in class for categories consistent with Occupatu ional Safety & Heath Administration (OSHA) standards. For the full
year, we achieved a Total Incident Rate (TIR) of 1.25 vs. Commercial Bakery average of 4.24. We develop and
maintain safety policies in our facilities and conduct periodic audits to ensure compliance. We believe new
automation, safety it nvestments and behavioral safety training have resulted in higher employee engagement and
lower workers’ compensation costs. Managing the global pandemic remains a focff us in our health and safety agenda.
As establia shed in 2020, our approach to managing the COVID-19 pandemic has been driven by three key principles:

• The safetff y of our employees, their families, and communities is our top priority

• We’ll continue to service our customers and consumers

• We’ll stay nimble and informed

In 2021, we continued the enhanced cleaning and safety pt rotocols introduced at the beginning of the pandemic, and
conduct daily audits of our facilities, ensuring we are following through with our efforts to maintain a safe wff orking
environment for our employees amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

Corporaterr Sustainabitt liii tyii

We launched our first Corporate Responsibility Report in May 2021, identifying four key areas of focus for the
Company - Governance, Equity & Inclusion, Health and Safety and Environmental. We also highlighted
achievements which position us as a responsible, caring member of the communities in which we operate as
evidenced through our environmental impact, and community involvement via product and monetary donations and
employee volunteer activities.

Labor

Our ability to achieve sustained, profitable results is predicated on our ability to attract, retain, and engage a team of
employees aligned on a common purpose: to deliver products that create moments of joy for our customers and
consumers. We are committed to providing a safe work environment, competm itive wage and benefits packages,
career development opportunities and an inclusive culturet that encourages each employee to bring their whole self to
work.

There were unprecedented labor challenges across the U.S. during 2021 and while this issue impacm ted us like
virtualt ly all employers, we have worked closely with our employees to ensure we can deliver on the promise of our
Mission, Vision, and Values in serving our customers and consumers. We have entered into collective bargaining
agreements with the Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers Union in Indianapolis, Indiana,
Columbus, Georgia and Burlington, Ontario; and AFL-CIO and the Chemical Production Workers Union Local No.
30 in Chicago, Illinois. Approximately 1,100 employees are covered by these collective bargaining agreements. We
consider our relations with employees to be good and have not experienced a strike or significant work stoppage.

We agreed to a three-year contract in our Indianapolis location in December, 2021, as well as extending the
agreement for our Chicago, Illinois bakery by two years, through May 31, 2025.

We offer competitive wages and benefits, including medical, dental, vision, paid parental leave, paid time off, and a
number of other programs to best suit the needs of our employees.

Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, & Belonging

To best achieve our desired results, it is vital that employeem s are comfortable bringing their whole selves to work.
We believe diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging efforts are key to maintaining our positive culture. In addition
to training and education at all levels, in 2021 we formed an enterprise-wide DEI&B Team, which identified
opportunities to improve our culture, including the planning and execution of celebration and appreciation events for
a variety of groups, including the launch of a Speakers Series, programming around culture and appreciation events,
and review and enhancement of our diversity policies and practices.
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As of December 31, 2021, our employee demographica s in the U.S. were:

Total U.S. Hostess Brands
American Indian or Alaska Native............................................................................................................. 0.5%
Asian .......................................................................................................................................................... 1.6%
Black or African American ........................................................................................................................ 30.8%
Decline to State .......................................................................................................................................... 2.3%
Hispanic or Latino...................................................................................................................................... 29.7%
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander ................................................................................................ 0.5%
Two or More Races.................................................................................................................................... 0.3%
White .......................................................................................................................................................... 34.3%

Management
American Indian or Alaska Native............................................................................................................. 0.3%
Asian .......................................................................................................................................................... 2.3%
Black or African American ........................................................................................................................ 14.8%
Decline to State .......................................................................................................................................... 1.5%
Hispanic or Latino...................................................................................................................................... 13.7%
Two or More Races.................................................................................................................................... 0.3%
White .......................................................................................................................................................... 67.2%

Our gender makeup as of December 31, 2021, was:
Total U.S. Hostess Brands
Female ....................................................................................................................................................... 40.1%
Male........................................................................................................................................................... 59.9%

Management
Female ........................................................................................................................................................ 27.0%
Male............................................................................................................................................................ 73.0%

Culture & EngagemeEE nt

The Company’s culture is an integral part of our strategy, built on creativity, commitment, collaborata ion, positive
energy, and strong sense of ownership. We envision a world where the everyday is worth celebrating. We inspire
moments of joy by putting our into everything we do. We launched our Mission, Vision, and Values in May 2021
to ensure everyone on our team understands the purpose of our work.

To better understand the full experience of our employem es, and to hear what they value, and what they believe could
be improved,m we launched our first Pulse of Hostess Brands engagement survey in May 2021. Through this process,
we identified key themes in every location and department and are engaged in action planning to make our work
environment even better. Using both live roundtablea sessions with small groups of employees and virtualtt sessions
with executive leadership, we regularly check in with our employees to identify issues needing attention, while
sharing key messages with all employees through quarterly Town Hall meetings. In 2021, we also launched the
Hostess Hero award, our highest employee honor, which recognizes leadership and character.

Embodying these behaviors is a strong and experienced management team, led by Andy Callahan, our President and
Chief Executive Officer. Members of the management team have extensive experience in the consumer packaged
goods industry across the sales, operations, marketing, human resources, legal, and finaff nce disciplines.
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Our management team is complemented by an experienced Board of Directors, all of whom have senior executive
leadership experience and bring with them extensive consumer products knowlek dge. Our board members and
management include:

Board of Directors: Executive Officeff rs:
Jerry D. Kaminski, Chairman Andy P. Callahan, President and Chief Executive Officer
Andy P. Callahan, Director Michael J. Cramer, Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer

Olu Beck, Director
Michael J. Gernigin, Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Offiff cer and Interim Chief
Financial Officer

Laurence E. Bodner, Director Arist Mastorides, Executive Vice President, Chief Customer Officer
Gretchen R. Crist, Director Dan O'Leary,r Executive Vice President, Chief Growth Officer
Rachel P. Cullen, Director Darryl P. Riley, Senior Vice President of Quality, Food Safety and R&D
Hugh G. Dineen, Director Jolyn J. Sebree, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Ioannis Skoufalos, Director Robert C. Weber, Senior Vice President, Chief People Officer
Craig D. Steeneck, Director

A detailed biographya of each of our board members and key management team members can be foundff at
www.hostessbrands.com. Unless expressly stated otherwise, the information contained on or accessible through our
website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

This discussion of the business should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) under Item 7 herein. In
addition, the information set forth under the headings “Forward Looking Statements,” and “Introduction” in the
MD&A and the segment and geographica information included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data - Note 6. Segment Reporting are incorporated herein by reference in partial response to this Item 1.

The Company’s Internet website address is www.hostessbrands.com. The Company makes availablea free of charge
(other than an investor’s own Internet access charges) through its Internet website its Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, on the same day
they are electronically filff ed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

The SEC maintains an internr et site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.se// c.gov. The Company is not including the
information contained on or available through its website or the SEC’s website as part of, or incorporating such
information by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefullff y cll onsider thett following risk facff tors, together with att ll of the other informatff ion included in thisii
Annual Reporte on Form 10-K. The risks described below are those which we believe are the material risksii that we
face. Additional risks not presently kll nowkk n to us or which we currently cll onsider immaterial may also have an
adverse effeff ct on us. Any risk described below may have a material adverse impact on our business or financial
condition. Under these circumstances, the trading price of oo ur Classl A common stock could dll ecdd line, and you may
lose all or part of yoff ur investment.tt

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BRANDS, REPUTATION AND COMPETITION,

Maintaining,ii extendingtt and expandingee our reputation and brand images are essentialii to our business success.

We have many iconic brands with long-standing consumer recognition. Our success depends on our ability to
maintain our brand images forff our existing products, extend our brands to new platforms, and expand our brand
image with new product offerings.

We seek to maintain, extend, and expand our brand images through marketing investments, including advertising
and consumer promotions, and product innovation. Increasing attention on the role of food marketing could
adversely affect our brand images. It could also lead to stricter regulations and greater scrutiny of marketing
practices. Existing or increased legal or regulatory restrictions on our labela ing, advertising, consumer promotions
and marketing, or our response to those restrictions, could limit our efforts to maintain, extend and expand our
brands. Moreover, regulatory or legal action against us, product recalls or other adverse publicity could damage our
reputation and brand image, undermine our customers’ confidence and reduce long-term demand for our products,
even if these actions are unfounded or not material to our operations.

Our reputation could be adversely impacm ted by the perception that we don't maintain high ethical, social or
environmental standards for all of our operations and activities or a perceived negative environmental impact,
including use of agricultural materials, packaging, energy use and waste management. In addition, our success in
maintaining, extending, and expanding our brand image depends on our ability to adapta to a rapidly changing media
environment. We increasingly rely on social media and online dissemination of advertising campaigns. Social and
digital media increases the speed and extent that information or misinformation and opinions can be shared.
Negative posts or comments about us, our brands or our products on social or digital media, whether or not valid,
could seriously damage our brands and reputation. If we do not maintain, extend, and expand our brand image, then
our product sales, financial condition and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

We may be unable tll o ltt evll erage our brand value to competm e att gaia nstii lower-priced alternattt ivtt e brands.

In most of our product categories, we compete with lower-priced alternative products. Our products must provide
higher value and/or quality to our consumers than alternatives, particularly during periods of economic uncertainty.
Consumers may not buy our products if relative differences in value and/or quality between our products and retailer
or other economy brands change in favor of competitors’ products or if consumers perceive this type of change. If
consumers choose the lower-priced brands, then we could lose market share and sales volumes, which could
materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial condition, and operating results.

We may be unable tll o ctt orrectlytt predict, identify and interpret changes in cii onsumer preferences and demand and
offer new products or methods of distributionii to meet those changes.

Consumer preferences for food and snacking products continually change. Our success will depend on our ability to
predict, identify and interpret the tastes, dietary hrr abits, purchasing behavior and other preferences of consumers and
to offer products that appea al to these preferences. Moreover, weak economic conditions, recession or other factff ors
could affect consumer preferences and demand. If we do not offer products that appea al to consumers or if we
misjudge consumer preferences and demand for our products, our sales and market share will decrease and our
financial condition and operating results could suffer.
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We continually introduce new products or product extensions and our operating results and growth will depend upon
the market reception of such new products. There can be no assurance that new products will find widespread
acceptance among consumers, and unsuccessful product launches may decrease our profitability and damage our
brands’ reputation.

The continued prevalence of e-commerce and other methods of distribution outside of traditional retail shopping
could also impact our sales and profitability if we are unable to adequately modify the marketing and distribution of
our products in response.

In addition, prolonged negative perceptions concerning the health implications of certain food products could
influence consumer preferences and acceptance of some of our products and marketing programs. For example,
consumers are increasingly focusedff on health and wellness and are aware of product ingredients such as added sugar
and artificial flavors or colors. We might be unsuccessful in our efforts to effectively respond to changing consumer
preferences and social expectations.

Our inteltt lell ctual property rightsi are valuable,ll and our failure to protect them could reduce the value of our
products and brands.

We consider our intellectualtt property rights, including our trademarks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets and
trade dress, to be a significant and valuable part of our business. We attempt to protect our intellectualtt property
rights by taking advantage of a combination of applicable laws, registrations of our intellectualt property, third-party
agreements (including non-disclosures, assignments, distribution and/or manufacturing, licenses, consents and co-
existence) and policing and enforcement of third-party misuse or infringement of our intellectualt property. Our
failure to obtain or adequately protect our intellectualtt property rights, or any change in law or other changes that
serve to lessen or remove the current legal protections of our intellectualt property, may diminish our
competitiveness and could materially harm our business. In addition, third-party claims of intellectualtt property
infringement might require us to pay monetary damages or enter into costly license agreements. We also may be
subject to injuncn tions against development and sale of certain of our products.

Any litigation regarding intellectualt property (including third-party infringement claims or litigation initiated by us
to protect our intellectualt property rights) could be costly and time-consuming and could divert management’s and
other key personnel’s attention from our business operations. Any of the occurrences outlined abovea could
materially and adversely affect our reputation, product sales, financial condition and operating results.

We operate in a highlygg competitiii ve industry.tt

The snacking industry is highly competitive. Numerous brands and products competm e forff shelf space and sales, with
competition based primarily on product quality, brand recognition and loyalty, price, trade promotion, consumer
promotion, and the ability to identify and satisfy emerging consumer preferences. We face competition from other
large national brands, smaller regional operators, supermarket chains with their own private labela ed brands and
diversified foodff companies. Our competitors include a signififf cant number of companim es of varying sizes, including
divisions, subdivisions, or subsidiaries of larger companies. Many of these competitors have multiple product lines,
substantially greater finaff ncial and other resources available to them, and may be substantially less leveraged than us.
We may not be able to competm e successfully with these companies. Competitive pressures or other facff tors could
cause us to lose market share, which may require us to lower prices, increase marketing and advertising
expenditures,tt or increase the use of discounting or promotional campaigns, each of which could materially and
adversely affecff t our margins and could result in an adverse effect to our financial condition and operating results.

Our success will depend on our continued abilitll y ttt o ptt roduce and successfully market products withii extended shelf
life.i

We have invested to extend our product shelf life,ff while maintaining our products’ taste, texture and quality.
Extended shelf life, or ESL, is an importam nt component of our DTW model. Our ability to produce and successfully
market existing and new products with ESL, while maintaining taste, texture and quality, is essential to our success.
If we are unable to continue to produce products with ESL or if the products are not accepted by consumers, we
could be forced to make changes to our distribution model or products that could have an adverse effect on our
product sales, financial condition and operating results.
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We may be limiii teii d in oii ur abilityii to pass cost increases on to our customers in the form orr f po rice increases.

We may not be able to pass some or all of any increases in the price of raw materials, labor,a energy, and other input
costs to our customers by raising prices. In the event we increase our prices, customers and consumers may choose
to purchase competing products or may shift purchases to private labela or other lower-priced offerings, which may
adversely affecff t our financial condition and operating results.

We may realizeii a decdd rease in sales volume in the event price increaseii s are implem mented.

Consumers may be less willing or able to pay a price differential forff our branded products, and may increasingly
purchase lower-priced offerings and may foregoff some purchases altogether. Retailers may also increase levels of
promotional activity forff lower-priced offerings as they seek to maintain sales volumes. Accordingly, sales volumes
of our branded products could be reduced or lead to a shift in sales mix toward our lower-margin offerings. As a
result, decreased demand for our products may adversely affecff t our financial condition and operating results.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR GROWTH STRATRR EGIES

Our growth may ba e limll itedtt by our inabilitll y ttt o mtt aintaiii n oii r add additional shelf oll r retaitt l sii pacs e forff our products.

Our results will depend on our ability to drive revenue growth, in part, by expanding the distribution channels forff
our products. However, our ability to do so may be limited by our inabila ity to secure additional shelf, display, or
other retail space for our products. Retail space forff snacks is limited and subject to competitive and other pressures,
and there can be no assurance that retail operators will provide us sufficient space forff our products to enablea us to
meet our growth objectives. If we are unable to maintain or increase our retail space we could experience an adverse
impactm on our product sales, financial condition and operating results.

We may not successfullyll identify or completll e stt trategice acquisitions,tt allill ancesi , ds ivdd estitureii s or jointii ventures.

From time to time, we may evaluate acquisition candidates, alliances or joint venturest that may strategically fit our
business objectives, or we may consider divesting businesses that no longer meet our strategic objectives, growth or
profitability targets. These activities may present financial, managerial, and operational risks, including, but not
limited to, diversion of management’s attention from existing core businesses. In addition, to the extent we
undertake acquisitions, alliances or joint venturestt or other developments outside our core geography or in new
categories, we may facff e additional risks related to such developments. Any of these factors could materially and
adversely affecff t our product sales, financial condition, and operating results.

We may not successfullyll integratee and manage our acquiredii businesseii s oee r brands.

From time to time, we acquire businesses or brands to expand our product portfolio and distribution. We may incur
unforeseen liabia lities and obligations in connection with the acquisition, integration, or management of the acquired
businesses or brands and may encounter unexpected difficulties and costs in integrating them into our operating and
internal control structures.t We may also experience delays in extending our internal control over financial reporting
to a newly acquired business, which may increase the risk of failure to prevent misstatements in their financial
records and in our consolidated financial statements. Our financial performance depends in large part on how well
we can manage and improvem the performancff e of acquired businesses or brands. We cannot assure you, however, that
we will be abla e to achieve our strategic and financial objectives forff such acquisitions. If we are unable to achieve
such objectives or successfully integrate acquired businesses or brands, our financial condition and operating results
could be negatively affecff ted.
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We may be unable tll o dtt rivdd e revenue growth in our key products or add products that are faster-growing an nd more
profitable.ll

The snacking industry’s overall growth is linked to population growth. Our future results will depend on our ability
to drive revenue growth in our key products. Because our operations are concentrated in the North American
snacking industry, our success also depends in part on our ability to enhance our portfolio by adding innovative new
products. There can be no assurance that we will be able to effectively manufacture or source new products or that
new products will find widespread acceptance among consumers. Our failure to drive revenue growth in our key
products or develop innovative new products could materially and adversely affect our profitability, financial
condition and operating results.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR OPERATIONS

The current COVID-19II pandemic, or the future outbreak of other highly infectioustt or contagious diseases, could
adversely impactm or cause disruption to our business, financialii condition,tt resultsll of operations and cash flowff s.
Further, tr hett COVID-19VV pandemic, which has caused severe disruptions in the U.S. and global economy, myy ay
furthertt disrupt financialii markets and could potentitt allii y cll reate widespreads businessii continuiii tyii issues.

In response to COVID-19, certain governmental authorities have issued orders, proclamations and/or directives
aimed at minimizing the spread of the pandemic. More restrictive proclamations and/or directives may be issued in
the future. As a food producer, we are an essential service and the majora ity of our employees continue to work
within our bakeries and distribution facilities. However, we have had increased labora costs resulting from the
payment of overtime to certain of our employees while other employees have been on paid sick leave or unpaid
leaves of absenca e. We have also incurred expenses related to additional sanitization and safety mt easures we have
instituted throughout our facilities. Although the temporary reductions in production at our bakeries to enablea
sanitization and implementation of our other safety and employee welfare programs have not materially affected our
operations, other foodff producers have experienced significant shutdowns of production. We cannot assure you that
our health and safety mt easures will prevent a widespread outbreak of COVID-19 at our facilities. Such an outbreak
could lead to a suspension of production or increased labora and other costs, each of which could have a material
adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are actively monitoring the potential impact of the pandemic on our operations and distribution. Our products
are manufactured in North America, and we may experience disruptions to our operations including in our supply
chain and in our ability to obtain ingredients, packaging, and other sourced materials due to labora shortages,
governmental restrictions, or the failure of our suppliers, distributors, or manufacturers to meet their obligations to
us. We are unable to accurately predict the impact that the coronavirus will have due to various uncertainties,
including the severity of the disease and its potential variants, the duratd ion of outbreaks, the effectiveness of
vaccines or other treatments and actions that may be taken by governmental authorities. We also cannot predict the
effects of any future outbreak of other highly infectious or contagious diseases.

The impacm ts of the COVID-19 pandemic could exacerbate conditions in our other risk factors noted in this Item 1A,
“Risk Factors.” If we are unable to successfully manage our business through the challenges and uncertainties
created by the COVID-19 pandemic, many of which are not within our control, our business, financial condition and
operating results could be materially adversely affecff ted.

The cost to manufacture our products is subject to pricingii volatiltt itll y.tt

We purchase and use large quantities of commodities, including flour, sweeteners, edible oils and compound coating
to manufacture our products. In addition, we purchase and use significant quantities of corrugate and films to
package our products.

Prices forff commodities, labor,a energy, transportation and other inputs are volatile and can flucff tuate due to
inflationary pressures that are difficulff t to predict, including global competm ition for resources, currency fluctuations,
severe weather, the potential effects of climate change, consumer, industrial or investment demand, and changes in
regulatory, trade, alternative energy, or agricultural policies. Rising commodity, energy, transportation and other
input costs could materially and adversely affect our cost of operations, which could materially and adversely affect
our financial condition and operating results.
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We monitor our exposure to commodity prices as an integral part of our overall risk management program, and seek
to utilize forward buying strategies through short-term and long-term advance purchase contracts, to lock in prices
for certain high-volume raw materials, packaging components and fuel inputs. These strategies, however, may not
protect us from increases in specific raw materials costs.

Damage or disruption to our supply chain, including third-party manufacturing or transportation and distribution
capabia lities, due to weather, including any potential effects of climate change, naturaltt disaster, firff e or explosion,
terrorism, pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), strikes, government action, or other reasons beyond our
control or the control of our suppliers and business partners, could impair our ability to manufacture or sell our
products. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impactm of such events, or to effectively
manage such events if they occur, particularly when a product is sourced from a single supplier or location, could
adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and operating results.

In addition, disputes with significant suppliers, including disputes regarding pricing or performance, could adversely
affect our ability to supply products to our customers and could materially and adversely affect our product sales,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We source the significant majoria ty of our ingredients, raw materials and packaging within North America. However,
global supply may become constrained, which may cause the price of certain ingredients, raw materials and
packaging used in our products to increase, such ingredients may become unavailable and/or we may experience
disruptions to our operations.

Continued volatility or sustained increases in the prices of commodities, transportation and other supplies we
purchase could increase the costs of our products, and our profitability could suffer. Moreover, increases in the
prices of our products to cover these increased costs may result in lower sales volumes. If we are not successful in
our buying strategies and production efficiencies, or if we are unable to price our products to cover increased costs,
then commodity and other input price volatility or increases could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results.

The loss of one or more of our current co-manufacturingii arrangements could adversely affect our business.ii

We use independent contract manufacturers, or co-manufacturers,t to manufacture a portion of our products. In some
cases, an individual co-manufacturert may produce all of our requirements forff a particular product. There are a
limited number of qualified co-manufacturerst in the industry. Therefore, if we lose or need to change one or more
co-manufacturerstt or fail to retain co-manufacturerstt for newly acquired or developed products or brands, production
of our products may be delayed or postponed and/or the availabila ity of some of our products may be reduced or
eliminated, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition and operating results.

The abilitll y ttt o dtt istrdd ibute our products is subject to stt ignifici ant changes in tii hett availabilll itll y att nd pricingii of
transportatitt on.

We utilize third-party carriers to ship our products to our distribution centers and to customers. The availabila ity of
timely and reliablea transportation and the associated costs are subject to market demand, carrier capacity, fuel prices
and regulatory oversight. Our procurement of transportation services from a diversified group of carriers and
continuous monitoring of carrier usage and pricing could be insufficient to protect us from changes in market
demand or carrier capacita y.t The inability to distribute our products in a cost effective manner could have a material
adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition and operating results.
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Climate change may negativtt ely all ffea ct our business and operations.

There is growing concern that carbonr dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an adverse
impactm on global temperatures,tt weather patterns, and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and naturalt
disasters. In the event that such climate change has a negative effectff on agricultural productivity, we may be subjeb ct
to decreased availability or less favorablea pricing for certain commodities that are necessary for our products, such
as sugar and wheat. Adverse weather conditions and naturalt disasters can reduce crop size and crop quality, which in
turn could reduce our supplies of raw materials, lower recoveries of usable raw materials, increase the prices of our
raw materials, increase our cost of transporting and storing raw materials, or disrupt our production schedules. As a
result of climate change, we may also be subjeb cted to decreased availability of water, deteriorated quality of water or
less favorable pricing for water, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

If we lose one or more of our major customett rs, or if any of our major customett rs experience signii fii cant busineii ss
inii terruptitt on, our operating rn esultsll could be adversely affected.

We have several large customers that account for a significant portion of our sales. Wal-Mart together with its
affiliates is our largest customer and represented approxia mately 18.9% of our net revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Cumulatively, including Wal-Mart, our top ten customers accounted forff 59.5% of total net
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We do not have long-term supply contracts with any of our majora customers. The loss of one or more majora
customers, a material reduction in sales to these customers for any reason, including but not limited to, a significant
business interruption of our customers’ operations or our inabila ity to forecff ast demand and plan production to fulfill
customer orders would result in a decrease in our product sales, financial condition and operating results.

Our resultsll could be adversely impactm edtt as a result oll f io ncreii ased labor and employell e-relatell d expeee nses.

Inflationary pressures and any shortages in the labora market have increased and may continue to increase labora costs
or constrain production capaca ity, which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated operating results or
financial condition. While we have historically experienced some level of ordinary course turnover of employees,
the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting actions and impacts have exacerbated labora shortages and increased turnover.
A number of facff tors have had and may continue to have adverse effects on the labora force availablea to us, including
reduced employment pools, federal unemployment subsidies, including unemployment benefits offereff d in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic, and other government regulations, which include laws and regulations related to
workers’ health and safety,t wage and hour practices and immigration. Our labora costs include the cost of providing
employee benefits, including health and welfare, and severance benefits. The annual costs of benefits vary with
increased costs of health care and the outcome of collectively-bargained wage and benefit agreements. Labora
shortages and increased turnover rates within our team members have led to and could in the future lead to increased
costs, such as increased overtime to meet demand and increased wage rates to attract and retain employees, and
could negatively affect our ability to efficiently operate our bakeries or otherwise operate at full capaca ity. An overall
or prolonged labor shortage, lack of skilled labor,a increased turnover or labor inflation could have a material adverse
impactm on our financial condition and operating results.

Various federal and state labor laws govern our relationships with our employem es and affect operating costs. These
laws include employee classificff ations as exemptm or non-exempt, minimum wage requirements, unemployment tax
rates, workers’ compensation rates, overtime, family leave, safety st tandards, payroll taxes, citizenship requirements
and other wage and benefitff requirements for employees classified as non-exempt.m As our employees are paid at rates
set above, but related to, the applicablea minimum wage, further increases in the minimum wage could increase our
labora costs. Significant additional government regulations could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and operating results.
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A portion of our workforcerr belongsll to unions. Failureii to successfully negotiateii collecll tive bargaining an grea ements,
or strikes oee r work stoppages could cll ause our businessii to suffer.ff

Approximately 44% of our employem es, as of December 31, 2021, are covered by collective bargaining agreements
and other employees may seek to be covered by collective bargaining agreements. Strikes or work stoppages or
other business interruptions could occur if we are unable to renew these agreements on satisfactory terms or enter
into new agreements on satisfactory terms, which could impair manufacturing and distribution of our products or
result in a loss of sales, which could adversely impacm t our business, financial condition or operating results. The
terms and conditions of existing, renegotiated or new collective bargaining agreements could also increase our costs
or otherwise affect our ability to fully implement future operational changes to enhance our efficiency or to adapta to
changing business needs or strategy, which could have an adverse effect to our financial condition and operating
results.

We may be subject to ptt roduct liall bilitll y ctt laims should tll hett consumptim on of any of our products cause injury, iyy llii nell ss
or death.

We sell foodff products forff human consumption, which involves risks such as product contamination or spoilage,
mislabeling, product tampering and other adulteration of food products. Consumption of a mislabeled, adulterated,
contaminated or spoiled product may result in personal illness or injury. We could be subject to claims or lawsuits
relating to an actual or alleged illness or injury, and we could incur liabilities that are not insured or exceed our
insurance coverage. Even if product liability claims against us are not successful or fully pursued, these claims could
be costly and time consuming and may require our management to spend time defending the claims rather than
operating the business. In addition, publicity regarding these claims could adversely affect our reputation and
brands.

Product recallsll may increase our costs, ns egatively impactm our brands’ reputatitt on, and adversely affect our
business.

A product that has been actually or allegedly misbranded or becomes adulterated could result in product withdrawals
or recalls, destruction of product inventory, negative publicity, temporary plant closings, substantial cost of
compliance or remediation, and potentially significant product liability judgments against us. Any of these events
could result in a loss of demand for our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and operating results. While we carry insurance to cover the direct costs of such events, we cannot
guarantee that these costs will be recovered. We could also be adversely affected if consumers lose confidence in our
product quality, safety at nd integrity generally.

We rely on thirdii parties forff services relatedtt to sales, ms arketingtt and distriii butionii .

We utilize third-party brokerage and merchandising services and common carriers to execute order fulfillment for
the majora ity of our products. While these services have increased our market penetration and expanded our
distribution reach, we are dependent upon these third parties to effectively market, sell and distribute our
products. We do not have long-term contracts with any of these third-party service providers. Accordingly, any
termination by a third-party provider of their services to us, or any failure by these third parties to perform their
obligations to us, would have a material adverse impactm on our financial condition and operating results.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRY AND ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

The COVID-19VV pandemic has caused severe disrii uptions in the U.S. and global economy, myy ay further disrupt
financialii markets and could pll otentiallii y cll reate wtt idespread business continuiii tyii issues.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, certain governmental authorities have issued orders, proclamations and/or
directives aimed at minimizing the spread of the pandemic. Additional, more restrictive proclamations and/or
directives may be issued in the future. We cannot predict the economic impact of additional waves of COVID-19
infections or governmental measures and directives in response thereto. Although several vaccines for COVID-19
have been developed, the effectiveness and public acceptance of the vaccines remain uncertain. While we do not
expect that the virus will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results at this time,
we are unable to accurately predict the impact that the coronavirus will have due to various uncertainties, including
new variants of the virus and their severity, the duration of the outbreak, the economic impact on our customers, and
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actions that may be taken by governmental authorities. We also cannot predict the effects of another wave of
COVID-19 or any future outbreak of other highly infectious or contagious diseases.

Our geographic focus makes us particularly vll ulnerable to economic and other events and trends in Northtt
America.

We operate in North America and are particularly susceptible to adverse United States regulations, trade policies,
economic climate, consumer trends, market fluctuations, including commodity price flucff tuations or supply shortages
of our ingredients and other production inputs, and other adverse events. The concentration of our businesses in
North America could present challenges and may increase the likelihood that an adverse event in the United States
would materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial condition and operating results.

The consolidationtt of retail cii ustomers could adversely affect us.

Retail customers may continue to consolidate, resulting in fewer customers for our business. Consolidation also
produces larger retail customers that may seek to leverage their position to improvem their profitability by demanding
improvedm efficiency, lower pricing, increased promotional programs, or specifically tailored products. In addition,
larger retailers have the scale to develop supply chains that permit them to operate with reduced d inventories or to
develop and market their own retailer brands. Retail consolidation and increased retailer power could materially and
adversely affecff t our product sales, financial condition, and operating results.

Retail consolidation also increases the risk that adverse changes in our customers’ business operations or financial
performance will have a correspondingr material and adverse effect on us. For example, if our customers cannot
access sufficient funds or financing, then they may delay, decrease, or cancel purchases of our products, or delay or
fail to pay us for previous purchases, which could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial
condition, and operating results.

OTHER GENERALRR RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Unsuccessful implem mentation of business strategiee s to rtt educe costs may adversely affect our business, financialii
condition,tt resultsll of operations and cash flows.

Many of our costs, such as freight, raw materials and energy, are subject to factors outside of our control. Therefore,
we must seek to reduce costs in other areas, such as through operating efficiency. If we are not able to complete
projects designed to reduce costs and increase operating efficiency on time or within budget, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely impacted. In addition, if the cost-saving initiatives
we have implem mented, or any future cost-saving initiatives, do not generate the expected cost savings and synergies,
our business, financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.

Legale claill msii or othertt regulate orytt enforcemn ent actions could subjectb us to civil and criminal penalties.

As a large food company, we operate in a highly regulated environment with constantly evolving legal and
regulatory frameworks. Various laws and regulations govern food production, storage, distribution, sales, labela ing,
advertising and marketing, as well as licensing, trade, labor,a tax and environmental matters, and health and safetyt
practices. Government authorities regularly change laws and regulations and their interpretations. Consequently, we
are subject to heightened risk of legal claims or other regulatory enforcement actions. Although we have
implem mented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations, there can be
no assurance that our employees, contractors, or agents will not violate our policies and procedures. Moreover, a
failure to maintain effective control processes could lead to violations, unintentional or otherwise, of laws and
regulations. Legal claims or regulatory enforcement actions arising out of our failure or alleged failure to comply
with applicable laws and regulations could subject us to civil and criminal penalties that could materially and
adversely affecff t our product sales, reputation, financial condition and operating results.
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We are subject to laws aw nd regulationstt relatingtt to protectiontt of the environment, workerrr health,tt and workplace
safety. Cyy ostsCC to complym withii these laws aw nd regulate ions,tt or claimsii withii respect to environmental, healthll and safety
mattett rs, could have a significff ant negae tive impact on our business.

Our operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the management and
disposal of solid and hazardous materials and wastes, employee exposure to hazards in the workplace and the
cleanup of contaminated sites. We are required to obtain and comply with environmental permits forff many of our
operations, and sometimes we are required to install pollution control equipment or to implem ment operational
changes to limit air emissions or wastewater discharges and/or decrease the likelihood of accidental releases of
hazardous materials.

We could incur substantial costs, including cleanup costs, civil or criminal fines or penalties, and third-party claims
for property damage or personal injury as a result of any violations of environmental laws and regulations,
noncompliance with environmental permit conditions or contamination for which we may be responsible that is
identified or that may occur in the future. The increasing concern over climate change also may result in more
regional, fedeff ral, and/or global legal and regulatory requirements to reduce or mitigate the effects of greenhouse
gases and replenish water. If such laws are enacted, we may experience significant increases in our costs of
operation and delivery. In particular, increasing regulation of fuel emissions could substantially increase the
distribution and supply chain costs associated with our products.

Under federal and state environmental laws, we may be liable for the costs of investigation, removal or remediation
of certain hazardous or toxic substances, as well as related costs of investigation and damage to naturalt resources, at
various properties, including our current and former properties and the former properties of our predecessors, as well
as off-site waste handling or disposal sites that we or our predecessors have used. Liability may be imposed upon us
without regard to whether we knewk of or caused the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Any such
locations we currently own or occupy, or locations that we may acquire in the future, may result in liability to us
under such laws or expose us to third-party actions such as tort suits based on alleged conduct or environmental
conditions. In addition, we may be liable if hazardous or toxic substances migrate froff m properties forff which we may
be responsible to other properties.

In addition to regulations applicablea to our operations, failure by any of our suppliers to comply with regulations, or
allegations of compliance faiff lure, may disrupt their operations and could result in potential liability. Even if we were
able to obtain insurance coverage or compensation for any losses or damages resulting from the noncompliance of a
supplier with applicable regulations, our brands and reputation may be adversely affected by negative perceptions of
our brands stemming from such compliance failures.

We cannot predict what environmental or health and safety legislation or regulations will be enacted in the future or
how existing or future laws or regulations will be enforced, administered or interpreted. We also cannot predict the
amount of future expenditures that may be required in order to complym with such environmental or health and safetyt
laws or regulations or to respond to environmental claims. These potential expenses could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and operating results.

Our operations are subject to regulatill on by the FDA, FTC and other governmental entitiett s, and such regulatill ons
are subject to ctt hange from timeii to timeii which could impacm t how we manage our production and sale oll f po roducts.

Our and our contract manufacturers’ operations are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, the FTC and other
national, state, and local authorities in the U.S., as well as the CFIA and provincial and local authorities in Canada.
For example, we are subject to the Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act (“FDCA”) and regulations promulgated
thereunder by the FDA. This comprehem nsive regulatory program governs, among other things, the registration of all
points in the food supply chain, manufacturing, processing, composition and ingredients, labela ing, packaging,
holding, distribution and safety ot f food.ff Under this program, the FDA regulates manufacturing practices forff foods
through, among other things, its current “good manufacturing practices” regulations, or cGMPs, and specifies the
ingredients for certain foods. Our bakeries and products are subject to periodic inspection by federal, state, and local
authorities. The Food Safety Modernization Act increased the number of inspections at food facilities in the United
States in an effort to enhance the detection of food-borne illness outbreaks and order recalls of tainted food products.
It also imposes greater responsibility uponu parties throughout the food chain to design and implem ment effective
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hazard analysis and preventive control programs in foodff safetff y programs throughout the supply chain. Failure to
follow cGMPs and have an adequate foodff safety program results in food being adulterated and could require product
recalls. The FDCA requires certain reports of hazardous food products to be submitted to the FDA and provides
authority to the FDA to take corrective action including recall of adulterated or misbranded foodff products.

Similarly, the bakery in Burlington, Ontario is subject to the Canadian Food and Drugs Act (“CFDA”) and the Safe
Food for Canadian’s Act (“SFCA”) and regulations promulgated thereunder by Health Canada and the CFIA. The
CFDA and SFCA govern the import,m export, manufacture, distribution, composition, packaging, labela ling,
advertising, and sale of food products in Canada. Under the SFCA, the CFIA, among other things, issues licenses for
the importation, manufacturing, processing, packaging and labela ling of foods, and enforces requirements for food
safety,t preventive controls, traceability, and product complaints, investigations and recalls. Failure to implem ment
appropriate preventive controls and have an adequate foodff safety pt rogram may result in food being unsafe and could
require product recalls. Under the SFCA, companies are required to report to the CFIA if a foodff presents a risk of
injury to human health, whether dued to adulteration or misbranding, and CFIA has authority to take corrective action
including recall of the affecff ted foodff products.

The FDA also has extensive and specific regulations concerning food labela ing, including use of certain terms such as
sugar free, healthy, low sodium and low fat. Improper labeling of a foodff causes it to be misbranded and could result
in a recall. Under the FDCA, the FDA can issue a Warning Letter or Untitled Letter, or take other regulatory action
such as a product seizure and detention, product recall, refuseff to allow the export of the product, or with the
Department of Justice, criminal or civil penalties, injunction against or restriction of product manufacture or
distribution, consent decrees, disgorgement, restitution, against misbranded or adulterated food products. The FTC
and state authorities regulate how we market and advertise our products, and we could be the target of claims
relating to alleged false or deceptive advertising under federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations. In Canada,
the CFIA enforces the detailed labelling and advertising requirements and restrictions promulgated under the CFDA
and the SFCA, and has broad authority to take regulatory action such as product seizure and detention, stop sale,
product recall, license suspension, impose administrative monetary penalties or pursue criminal prosecution for
noncompliant food product or food advertising that is allegedly false or deceptive. Changes in these laws or
regulations or the introduction of new laws or regulations could increase the costs of doing business forff us or our
customers or suppliers or restrict our actions, causing our financial condition and operating results to be adversely
affected.

We seek to complym with applicable laws and regulations through a combination of employing internal personnel to
ensure quality-assurance and food safety pt rograms compliance and contracting with third-party laboratories.
Compliance with regulations is costly and time-consuming. From time to time, we have been subject to civil claims
alleging that we failed to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Any failure to comply or maintain permits
and licenses relating to our operations could subject us to fineff s, injunctions, recalls or seizures, as well as potential
criminal sanctions or suspensions or revocations of our registration, permits or licenses, which could result in
increased operating costs that have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating
results.

Significi ant additionaltt labelingii or warningii requiremeii nts or limiii tatii ionstt on the marketingtt or sale of our products
may reduce demdd and for such products and could adversely affect our businessii or operating rn esults.ll

Certain jurisdictions in which our products are made, manufactured, distributed or sold have either imposed, or are
considering imposing,m product labea ling or warning requirements or limitations on the marketing or sale of certain of
our products as a result of ingredients or substances contained in such products. These types of provisions have
required that we provide a label that highlights perceived concerns about a product or warns consumers to avoid
consumption of certain ingredients or substances present in our products and have also prohibited or limited the use
of certain words or phrases in connection with describing a product’s qualities. For example, in California,
Proposition 65 requires a specific warning on any product that contains a substance listed by the State of California
as having been foundff to cause cancer or birth defects, unless the level of such substance in the product is below a
safe harbor level. We have been subject to civil claims alleging non-complim ance with these requirements and may be
subject to such claims in the futff ure.t
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In addition, the United States imposed nutrition labela ing regulations that required large food manufacturers to
declare the quantity of added sugar by January 1, 2020, as well as a national bio-engineered foodff disclosure standard
that required food manufacturers to disclose bio-engineered foodff ingredients by January 1, 2022. Our new product
labela ing may impact the consumption and public perception of our products.

The impositim on or proposed impositim on of additional product labela ing or warning requirements could reduce overall
consumption of our products, lead to negative publicity (whether based in scientific fact or not) or leave consumers
with the perception (whether or not valid) that our products do not meet their health and wellness needs. Such
factors could adversely affecff t our business, financial conditions and operating results.

A matertt ial impii airment in the carrying value of acquired goodwill oll r other intangible all ssets could negativtt elyll
affect our consolidatedtt operating rn esultsll and net worth.

A significant portion of our assets are goodwill and other intangible assets, the majora ity of which are not amortized
but are reviewed for impairment at least annually and more often if indicators of impaim rment exist. If the carrying
value of these assets exceeds the current estimated faiff r value, the asset is considered impaired, and this would result
in a non-cash charge to earnings, which could be material. Events and conditions that could result in impairment
include a sustained drop in the market price of our Class A common stock, increased competm ition or loss of market
share, obsolescence, product claims that result in a significant loss of sales or profitability over the product life,
deterioration in macroeconomic conditions, or declining financial performance in comparison to projected results.

Our business operations could bll e disdd ruptedtt if our informatiff on technology systems fail to perform adequately.yy

The efficient operation of our business depends on our information technology systems, most of which are managed
by third-party service providers. We rely on our information technology systems to effectively manage our business
data, communications, supply chain, order entry and fulfillment, and other business processes. The failure of our
information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could disrupt our business and could result in
transaction errors, processing inefficiencies, and the loss of sales and customers, causing our business and operating
results to suffer. In addition, our information technology systems may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from
circumstances beyond our control, including fire, naturalt disasters, the potential effects of climate change, power
outages, systems faiff lures, security breaches, cyber-attacks and viruses. Any such damage or interruption could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We continuously monitor and update our information technology networks and infrastructurett to prevent, detect,
address and mitigate the risk of unauthorized access, misuse, and other events that could have a security impact. We
invest to protect our data and business processes against risk of data security breach and cyber-attacks. We believe
our security processes provide adequate measures of protection against security breaches. Nevertheless, despite
continued vigilance in these areas, disruptions in information technology systems, including unauthorized use of
data, are possible and could have a negative impact on our operations or business reputation. Failure of our systems,
including failures dued to cyber-attacks that would prevent the ability of systems to functff ion as intended, could cause
transaction errors, loss of customers and sales, and could have negative consequences to our operations, our
employees and those with whom we do business. This in turnt could have a negative impact on our financial
condition and operating results.

We may be unable tll o htt ire or retain aii nd develop key pe ersonnerr l or a highlyi skillell d and diverse workforce or
manage changes in our workforce.

We must hire, retain and develop a highly skilled and diverse workforce. We compete to hire new personnel in the
many regions in which we manufacture and market our products and then to develop and retain their skills and
competencies. Unplanned turnovet r or faiff lure to develop adequate succession plans for leadership positions or hire
and retain a diverse workforce with the skills and in the locations we need to operate and grow our business could
deplete our institutional knowledge base and erode our competitiveness.
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We also faceff increased personnel-related risks. These risks could lead to operational challenges, including increased
competition for employees with the skills we requireq to achieve our business goals, and higher employee turnovet r,
including employees with key capabia lities. Furthermore, we might be unable to manage changes in, or that affect,
our workforce appropriately or satisfy the legal requirements associated with how we manage and compensate our
employees. These risks could materially and adversely affect our reputation, ability to meet the needs of our
customers, product sales, financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure

Our substantialtt leverage could adversely affect our abilitll y ttt o rtt aise additionaltt capitalii to fund our operations, limiii tii
our abilitll y ttt o rtt eact to changes in tii hett economy or our industry,tt expose us to interest rate riskii to the extee entt t of oo ur
variable rll ate debt, att nd prevent us from meetingtt our obligatll ionstt under our indebtedd dness.

As of December 31, 2021, our total balance on long term debt, excluding deferred financing charges, discount,
premium, and lease obligations, was $1,091.6 million. Our degree of leverage could have importam nt consequences,
including:

• requiring a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal
and interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our
operations, capital expenditures, and future business opportunities or to pay dividends;

• exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates because the portion of our borrowings not hedged by
swap aa greements are subjeu ct to variablea rates;

• making it more difficult forff us to make payments on our indebtedness;

• increasing our vulnerabila ity to general economic and industry conditions;

• restricting us fromff making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;tt

• subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may limit our flexibility in operating our business;

• limiting our ability to obtain additional finff ancing for working capia tal, capia tal expenditures, product
development, debt service requirements, acquisitions, and general corporate or other purposes; and

• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who are less highly leveraged.

Despite our significant leverage, we may be abla e to incur significant additional amounts of debt, which could furtheff r
exacerbate the risks associated with our significant leverage.

Changes in interestt t rates mee ay adversely affect our earnings and/or cash flows.ll

Our term loan and revolving line of credit bear interest at variable interest rates that use the London Inter-Bank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as a benchmark rate. The United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority and the
administrator of LIBOR have announced that the publication of the most commonly used U.S. dollar LIBOR setting
will cease to be published or cease to be representative after June 30, 2023 and the publication of all other LIBOR
settings will cease to be published as of December 31, 2021. Starting January 1, 2022, banks in the United States
have ceased entering into new credit and other contractual agreements using U.S. dollar LIBOR as a reference rate,
and instead began incorporating alternative reference rates such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”),
within such agreements. SOFR is observed and backward-looking, which stands in contrast with LIBOR under the
current methodology, which is an estimated forward-lookiff ng rate and relies, to some degree, on the expert judgment
of submitting panel members. Given that SOFR is a secured rate backed by government securities, it will be a rate
that does not take into account bank credit risk (as is the case with LIBOR). Although our credit agreement provides
for successor base rates, the successor base rates may be related to LIBOR, and the consequences of any potential
cessation, modification or other reform of LIBOR cannot be predicted at this time. We work to reduced our exposure
to LIBOR through swap ca ontracts which effectively fix a portion of our variable-rate interest payments. Our interest
expense may increase, and our financial condition and operating results may be adversely affectff ed.
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We may be unable to obtaintt additiii onal financii ing to fund our operations and growth.

We may require additional finaff ncing to fund our operations or growth. The failure to secure additional finaff ncing
could have a material adverse effect on our continued development or growth. None of our officers, directors or
stockholders are required to provide any financing to us.

Our only significi ant asset is oii ur ownership iii nteii rest in our operatingii subsidiaries and such ownership mii ay not be
sufficient to pay dividends or make distribii utions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our common stock
or satisfytt our other financff ial obligatii ons, includindd g our obligatll ionstt under thett tax receivable all greea ment.

We have no direct operations and no significant assets other than our ownership interest in our operating
subsidiaries. We depend on our operating subsidiaries forff distributions, loans and other payments to generate the
funds necessary to meet our financial obligations, including our expenses as a publicly traded company, to pay any
dividends with respect to our common stock, and to satisfy our obligations under the tax receivable agreement. See
Note 9. Tax Receivable Agreement to the consolidated finaff ncial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, for information on the tax receivable agreement. The financial condition and operating requirements
of our operating subsidiaries may limit our ability to obtain cash from our operating subsidiaries. The earnings from,
or other available assets of, our operating subsidiaries may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make distributions
or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our common stock or satisfy our other finaff ncial obligations, including
our obligations under the tax receivablea agreement.

The ability of our operating subsidiaries (other than subsidiaries which have been designated as unrestricted
pursuant to our ability to do so in certain limited circumstances) to make distributions, loans and other payments to
us for the purposes described above and for any other purpose are governed by the terms of our credit facilities and
will be subject to the negative covenants set forth therein. Any loans or other extensions of credit will be subject to
the investment covenants contained therein, which provide for several exceptions including, among others (i) a
general investment basket equal to the greater of a fixeff d dollar amount and a percentage of EBITDA and (ii) an
unlimited investment basket based on satisfying a total net leverage ratio on a pro forma basis. Similarly, any
dividends, distributions or similar payments will be subjeb ct to the dividends and distributions covenant under such
credit facilities, which also provide for several exceptions including, among others (i) for payment of overhead and
certain fees and expenses of parent companies, (ii) forff tax distributions, subject to certain limitations, (iii) a general
dividend and distribution basket equal to the greater of a fixed dollar amount and a percentage of EBITDA and (iv)
an unlimited dividend and distribution basket based on satisfying a total net leverage ratio on a pro forma basis.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Our stock price may be volatill leii .ee

The market price of our Class A common stock could be subject to wide fluctuatt ions in response to various factors,
many of which are beyond our control. Purchases or sales of large quantities of our stock, or significant short
positions in our stock could have an unusual or adverse effect on our market price. These fluctuations may also
cause short sellers to periodically enter the market in the belief that we will have poor results in the future.
Abnormal trading activity, including activity that is considered market manipulation, can lead to irrational and/or
temporary movements in the price of our Class A common stock, which, in turn, may increase its risk and volatility.
We cannot predict the actions of market participants and, therefore, can offer no assurances that the market for our
Class A common stock will be stable or appreca iate over time.
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Anti-tt takeover provisions containett d in oii ur certifici ate of incorporation and bylawsll , as s well all s provisionsii of
Delaware law, cw ould ill mpii air a takeovertt attemtt pt.m

Our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that
stockholders may consider to be in their best interests. We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under
Delaware law, which could delay or prevent a change of control. Together, these provisions may make the removal
of management more difficulff t and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium
over prevailing market prices for our securities. These provisions include:

• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to
elect director candidates;

• the right of our board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board or the
resignation, death or removal of a director in certain circumstances, which prevents stockholders from
being able to filff l vacancies on our board;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at
an annual or special meeting of our stockholders;

• a prohibition on stockholders calling a special meeting and the requirement that a meeting of
stockholders may only be called by members of our board, which may delay the abila ity of our
stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;
and

• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our
board or to propose matters to be acted uponu at a meeting of stockholders, which may discourage or
deter a potential acquirer fromff conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of
directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

RISKS RELATED TO THE AMENDMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED REPORTS

The restatement of certain oii f oo ur financialii statemtt ents mtt ay subject us to risks and uncertaintiii es, includingii the
increased possibilitll y ott f lo egalll proceedings.

On April 30, 2021, management and the audit committee of our Board of Directors determined that our previously
issued quarterly and year-to-date unaudited consolidated financial statements for March 31, 2020, June 30, 2020,
September 30, 2020, December 31, 2020 and our audited consolidated financial statements forff the years ending
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 should no longer be relied upon.u In addition, we determined that the related
press releases, earnings releases, and investor communications describing our financial statements for these periods
should no longer be relied upon.u The errors identified were non-cash and related to our classification of certain
outstanding warrants. Accordingly, we restated the annual, quarterly and year-to-date audited and unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the foregoing periods on May 17, 2021.

As a result of our restatement, we may become subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including, among others,
the increased possibility of legal proceedings or a review by the SEC and other regulatory bodies. The costs of
defending against such legal proceedings or administrative actions could be significant. In addition, we could face
monetary judgments, penalties or other sanctions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2021, we operated the following facilities, supporting our Snacking reportable segment’s
operations, as shown in the chart below.

Type Location Owned/Leased Size (Sq. Ft.)
Bakery Emporia, Kansas Owned 278,500
Bakery Columbus, Georgia Leased(1) 313,700
Bakery Indianapolis, Indiana Owned 195,000
Bakery Chicago, Illinois Owned 137,000
Bakery and Distribution Center Burlington, Ontario Leased 250,000
Distribution Center Chicago, Illinois Leased 64,816
Distribution Center Edgerton, Kansas Leased 765,000
Distribution Center Emporia, Kansas Leased 24,112
Office Space Chicago, Illinois Leased 9,325
Office Space Nashville, Tennessee Leased 1,860
Office Space Burlington, Ontario Leased 12,647
Corporate Headquarters Lenexa, Kansas Owned 50,200
Third-Party Warehouse Kansas City, Kansas Other(2) —
Third-Party Warehouse Carthage, Missouri Other(2) —
Third-Party Warehouse Hobart, Indiana Other(2) —
Third-Party Warehouse Belvidere, Illinois Other(2) —
Third-Party Warehouse Atlanta, Georgia Other(2) —
Third-Party Warehouse Fogelsville, Pennsylvania Other(2) —

(1) The Columbus, Georgia bakery is availablea to the Company for the purchase amount of $100.
(2) Variablea usage fees are charged on a per-pallet basis.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in lawsuits, claims and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. These matters may
involve personnel and employment issues, personal injury, contracts and other proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of business. Although we do not expect the outcome of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition or results of operations, litigation is inherently unpredictable. Therefore, we could incur
judgments or enter into settlements or claims that could materially impact our results.

The information required to be furnished by us under this Part I, Item 3 (Legal Proceedings) is incorporated by
reference to the information contain ded iin Note 15. Com imitments a dnd Contingeinge incies to hthe liconsoliddat ded fifina inci lal
statements iin lcl d duded iin Part II, Item 8 on thihis A lnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applia cablea .
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PART II

Item 5. Market forff Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our Class A common stock is currently quoted on Nasdaq under the symbol “TWNK”.

As of Februaryrr 21, 2022, there were 4 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock and no stockholders of
record of our Class B common stock. Our Board of Directors periodically reviews our capital return policy to
determine whether the payment of cash dividends or repurchases of securities are in the best interests of the
Company and our stockholders.

We currently do not pay dividends and have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category

(A)
Number of

Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,

Warrants and
Rights

(B)
Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options,

Warrants, and
Rights

(C)
Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available forff
Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plan (excluding
securities reflected
in column (A))

Equity Compensation Plans approved
by stockholders..................................... 2,741,480 (1) $ 13.26 (2) 2,128,990 (3)

Equity Compensation Plans not
approved by stockholders..................... — — —
Total ..................................................... 2,741,480 $ 13.26 2,128,990

(1) Consists of shares subject to outstanding stock options, restricted stock units and performance restricted
stock units under the Hostess Brands, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), some of which are
vested and some of which remain subject to the vesting and/or performance criteria relating to the
respective equity award.

(2) Represents the weighted average exercise price of 1,461,885 stock options and excludes the impacm t of
1,279,595 shares of restricted stock units forff which no exercise price is payablea .

(3) Consists of shares available forff futurett issuance under the 2016 Plan.

For additional information, refer to Item 11 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

Period

Total number of
securities
repurchased

Average price
paid per share

Total number of
securities

purchased as
part of publicly
announced plans
or programs

Approximate
dollar value of
securities that
may yet be

purchased under
the program (in
millions) (1)

((

October 1 - 31, 2021 ........... — $ — — $ 42.0
November 1 - 30, 2021 ....... — — — 42.0
December 1 - 31, 2021 (2).. 162,495 19.11 162,495 38.9

162,495 162,495

(1) In November 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a securities repurchase program of up to
$100 million of its outstanding securities. As of December 31, 2021, there was $38.9 million remaining
under this program. The program has no expiration date. The program may be amended, suspended or
discontinued at any time at the Company’s discretion and does not commit the Company to repurchase its
securities.

(2) Repurchase of shares of Class A common stock

Warrants

In July 2021, the agreement governing the Company’s public and private placement warrants was amended.
Subsequent to the amendment, the exercise price forff all outstanding warrants was payablea through a “cashless
exercise” with a premium of $0.25 added to the valuation price of each share for purposes of calculating the number
of shares issuablea upon exercise of the warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 51,595,844 warrants
were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting in the issuance of 9,822,909 shares of the Company’s Class A common
stock, under the terms of the amended warrant agreement. All remaining warrants expired on November 4, 2021,
with 1,120,714 warrants expiring unexercised.

As fof December 31, 2021, thhere werer no public or private placement warrants outstanding.
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Performanff ce Graph

The following graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be deemed to be “filed”
with the Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing, except to the
extent that we specificallyff incorporate it by reference into such filing. The following stock performance graph
compares, for the period December 31, 2016 through December 31, 2021 (the last trading day of our fiscal year), the
cumulative total stockholder returnt for (1) the Company’s common stock, (2) the S&P SmallCap 6a 00 and (3) the
S&P composite 1500 Packaged Foods and Meats Sub-Index. The graph assumes the value of the investment in our
common stock and each index was $100.00 on December 31, 2016 and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The
stock price performance below is not necessarily indicative of futuret stock price performance.
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Item 6. [RESERVED]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysisyy of our financial condition and results ott f oo peratio ons should be read in conjunction withtt
our consolidated finff ancial statements att nd related notes included in IteII m 8 of this Aii nnual Reporte on Form 10-K. This discussion
contains forward-ldd ooking statements ttt hattt involvell risks akk nd uncertainties. Our actual results ctt ould dll iffeff r materially from those
discussed below. Factors that could cll ause or contributtt e to such diffeff rences include, but are not limited to, those identifii ed
below and those discussed in Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this Annual Repore t on FormFF 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading sweet snacks company focused on developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and distributing snack
products in North America, providing a wide range of snack cakes, donuts, sweet rolls, breakfast pastries, cookies, snack pies
and related products. As of December 31, 2021, we operate five baking facilities and utilize distribution centers and third-party
warehouses to distribute our products. Our Direct-to-Warehouse product distribution system allows us to deliver to our
customers’ warehouses. Our customers in turn distribute to their retail stores and/or distributors.

The Company has one reportable segment: Snacking. The Snacking segment consists of sweet baked goods, cookies, bread and
buns that are sold under the Hostess®, Voortman®, Dolly Madison®, Cloverhill® and Big Texas® brands.

Hostess® is the second leading brand by market share within the Sweet Baked Goods (“SBG”) category, according to Nielsen
U.S. total universe. For the 52-week period ended January 1, 2022 our branded SBG products’ (which include Hostess®, Dolly
Madison®, Cloverhill®, and Big Texas®) market share was 21.3% per NiNi lelsen’s U.S. SBG categ ygory ddata. Our Voortman®
branded products include the #1 creme wafer and sugar-free cookie products within the larger Cookie category.

Principal Components of Operating Results

Net Revenue

We generate revenue through selling packaged snacks which include iconic products such as Donettes®, Twinkies®,
CupCakeu s, Ding Dongs®, Zingers®, Danishes, Honey Buns and Coffee Cakes under the Hostess® group of brands, as well as
cookies, wafers and sugar-free products under the Voortman® brand. We also sell products under the Dolly Madison®,
Cloverhill® and Big Texas® brands along with private labela products. Our product assortment is sold to customers’ warehouses
and distribution centers by the case or in display-ready corrugate units. Retailers display and sell our products to the end
consumer in single-serve, multi-pack or club-pacu k formaff ts. We sell our products primarily to supermarket chains, national mass
retailers and convenience and drug stores, along with a smaller portion of our product sales going to club stores, dollar stores,
vending, and other retail outlets.

Our revenues are driven by average net price and total volume of products sold. Factors that impact unit pricing and sales
volume include product mix, the cost of ingredients, promotional activities, industry capacity, new product initiatives and
quality and consumer preferences. We do not keep a significant backlog of finished goods inventory, as our baked products are
promptly shipped to our distribution centers after being produced and then distributed to customers.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists of ingredients, packaging, labor,a energy, other production costs and warehousing and transportation
costs including in-bound freight, inter-plant transportation and distribution of our products to customers. The cost of ingredients
and packaging represent the majora ity of our total costs of goods sold. All costs that are incurred at the bakeries, including the
depreciation of bakery facilities and equipment, are included in cost of goods sold. We do not allocate any corporate functions
into cost of goods sold.

Our cost of ingredients consists principally of cooking oil, sugar, coatings and flour, which are subject to substantial price
fluctuations, as is the cost of paper, corrugate, filff ms and plastics used to package our products. The prices for raw materials are
influenced by a number of facff tors, including the weather, crop production, transportation and processing costs, government
regulation and policies and worldwide market supply and demand. We also rely on fuel products, such as naturaltt gas, diesel,
propane and electricity, to operate our bakeries and produce our products. Fluctuattt ions in the prices of the raw materials or fuel
products used in the production, packaging or transportation of our products affect the cost of products sold and our product
pricing strategy. We utilize forward buying strategies through short-term and long-term advance purchase contracts to lock in
prices for certain high-volume raw materials, packaged components and certain fuel inputs. Through these initiatives, we
believe we are ablea to obtain competm itive pricing.
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Advertising and Marketingii

Our advertising and marketing expenses include wire racks and corrugate displays delivered to customers to display our
products off shelf, field marketing and merchandising services to reset and check our store inventory on a regular basis. We also
invest in advertising campaigns, which include social media, print, online advertising, local promotional events, monthly
agency fees and payroll costs.

Sellingll

Selling expenses primarily include sales management, sales employee related expenses, travel, and related expenses, as well as
broker fees. We utilize brokers for sales support, including managing promotional activities and order processing.

General and Administraii tive

General and administrative expenses primarily include employee and related expenses for the accounting, finance, customer
service, legal, human resources, corporate operations, research and development, purchasing, logistics and executive functions.
Also included are professional service feeff s related to audit and tax, legal, outsourced information technology functions,
transportation planning, headquarters and other office sites and insurance costs, as well as the depreciation and amortization of
corporate assets.

Other ExpEE enses

Other expenses primarily include interest paid on our term loan as well as the change in faiff r value of our liability-classified
public and private placement warrants.

Non-Controllill ngii Interest

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Mr. Metropoulos and the Metropoulos Entities held equity investment in us
primarily through Class B limited partnership units in the Company’s subsidiary, Hostess Holdings (“Class B Units”), and an
equal number of shares of the Company’s Class B common stock (“Class B Stock”). Our Class B Stock had voting, but no
economic rights, while Hostess Holdings’ Class B Units had economic, but no voting rights. Each Class B Unit, together with a
share of Class B Stock held by the Metropoulos Entities, was exchangeable forff a share of the Company’s Class A common
stock (or at the option of the Company, the cash equivalent thereof). The Company held 100% of the general partnership
interest in Hostess Holdings. Subsequent to final exchange described below, the partnership was dissolved. The interest of the
Metropoulos Entities in Hostess Holdings’ Class B Units prior to the final exchange is reflected in our consolidated financial
statements as a non-controlling interest. The Metropoulos Entities have eliminated their ownership through a series of
exchanges of shares of Class B Stock and Class B Units forff an equal number of Class A shares. As part of the final exchange,
we repurchased 0.4 million shares of Class A common stock from the Metropoulos Entities. The remaining shares were
purchased by third parties. At December 31, 2020, there were no outstanding shares of Class B common stock.

Factors Impacting Recent Results

COVID-19

The acute and far-reff aching impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken by governments to contain the spread of the
virus have impacted our operations. During the first two quarters of 2020, as consumers prepared for extended stays at home,
we experienced an increase in consumption, particularly in our multi-pack products sold through grocery and mass retailer
channels. Conversely, during that same time frame, we experienced lower consumption of single-serve products, which are
often consumed away from home. During the second half of 2020 and all of 2021, we have continued to experience strong
demand in our multi-pack products, as well as an increase in our immediate consumption single-serve business as mobility
increased. However, we cannot predict if these trends will sustain or reverse in futurett periods.

Since the start of the pandemic, our internal COVID-19 task force has monitored the rapia dly evolving situation and
implem mented risk mitigation actions as deemed necessary. To date, we have not experienced significant disruptions to our
supply chain and distribution network. However, it is possible that significant disruptions could still occur. Supply chain
constraints seen elsewhere in the global economy due to availability of labor,a transportation and raw materials could impact our
ability to source ingredients and packaging for our bakeries or our ability to ship products to our customers. We continue to
work closely with all of our vendors, distributors, contract manufacturers, and other external business partners to ensure
availability of our products for our customers and consumers.

To protect our employees and ensure continuity of operations, we have implem mented additional safety at nd sanitation measures
in all of our facilities. We continue to follow protocols that are consistent with, or ahead of applicable local, state and federal
guidelines. As many of our non-production team members, including sales, marketing and corporate employees, return tr o the
office after working remotely for many months, we continue to monitor employem e health and safety and adhere to evolving
CDC guidelines while supporting our ability to bring products to consumers.
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Despite the distribution of COVID-19 vaccines, uncertainty continues to exist regarding the pandemic and its impact on our
business, including uncertainty related to, among other things, the duration of the pandemic, vaccine deployment and
acceptance, new variants of COVID-19 and vaccine effectiveness for new variants, and the effect of actions to contain
COVID-19 or treat its effect.

Under the provisions of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act, we were able to defer the
payment of $5.6 million of 2020 employer payroll taxes. Payments of $2.8 million continue to be deferred as of December 31,
2021. Apart from this deferral and their impacm t on the general economy, including the labora market and consumer demand,
neither the CARES Act, the American Rescue Plan enacted in the first quarter of 2021, nor any other government program
intended to address COVID-19 had any material impact on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December
31, 2021 or 2020. We continue to monitor any effecff ts that may result from the CARES Act and other stimulus programs.

Acquisiii tiii on

On January 3, 2020, we completed the acquisition of all of the shares of the parent company of Voortman Cookies Limited
(“Voortman”), a manufacturer of premium, branded wafers and cookies, including sugar-free products. By adding the
Voortman® brand, we believe we have greater growth opportunities provided by a more diverse portfolio of brands and
products. Our consolidated statements of operations include the operation of these assets from January 3, 2020 through
December 31, 2021. In December 2020, we asserted claims forff indemnification against the sellers under the terms of the Share
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we acquired Voortman forff an aggregate of approxia mately $90 million Canadian Dollar
(“CAD”) in damages arising out of alleged breaches by the sellers of certain representations, warranties and covenants
contained in such agreement relating to periods prior to the closing of the acquisition. We have also submu itted claims relating to
these alleged breaches under the representation and warranty insurance policy we purchased in connection with the acquisition.
Such insurance policy has a coverage limit of $42.5 million CAD. We have entered into an agreement with the sellers to toll the
running of any applicable limitation period that may apply to our claim against them while we work through our claim with our
insurers. Although we strongly believe that our claims are meritorious, no assurance can be given as to whether we will recover
all, or any part, of the amounts for which we have made such claims. No gains or receivables have been recognized related to
these claims as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.

Change in Fii airFF Value of Wo arrantWW Liabilii itll iett s

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were fluctuations in the market price of our publicly traded
warrants. These fluctuations created significant gains and losses on the remeasurement of certain warrants which are recognized
as liabilities measured at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets. These remeasurements are recognized as “change in fair
value of warrant liabilities” within other expenses on our consolidated statements of operations.
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Results of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data, p p )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020
Net revenue ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 1,142,036 $ 1,016,609
Gross profit ..................................................................................................................................................... 409,983 355,639
As a % of no et revenue................................................................................................................................... 35.9 % 35.0 %
Total operating costs and expenses................................................................................................................. $ 209,245 $ 220,329
Operating income ........................................................................................................................................... 200,738 135,310
Total other expense ......................................................................................................................................... 40,926 6,608
Income tax expense......................................................................................................................................... 40,513 20,405
Net income ..................................................................................................................................................... 119,299 108,297
Net income attributable to Class A stockholders............................................................................................ $ 119,299 $ 104,676

Earnings per Class A share:
Basic................................................................................................................................................................ $ 0.91 $ 0.84
Diluted............................................................................................................................................................. 0.86 0.51

Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Rtt esults ftt orff the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Net Revenue

Net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased $125.4 million, or 12.3%, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020 with higher volumes accounting for approximately seven percentage points of the annual growth. Sweet
baked goods revenue increased $105.1 million or 11.4% due to higher volume in Convenience, Grocery and Dollar channels,
the benefit of pricing actions implem mented in the second half of the year and continued momentumt of single-serve products
driving favorablea product mix. Cookies net revenue increased $20.3 million or 21.1% due to distribution growth and lappinga
the initial Voortman slotting fees paid in 2020 to obtain space in customer warehouses.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was 35.9% of net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase of 92 basis points fromff a gross
margin of 35.0% for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in gross profit was driven primarily by higher volume,
productivity initiatives, pricing actions, and favorablea product mix, as well as lapping Voortman acquisition and facility
transition costs and COVID-19 costs in the prior year. These benefits were partially offset by transportation and input cost
inflation.

Operatingtt Costs and Expensexx s

Operating costs and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased by 5.0% from the year ended December 31,
2020. These costs decreased primarily due to lappinga Voortman acquisition and integration costs and conversion of Voortman’s
operations. Operating costs in 2020 also reflect an impairment expense related to the planned disposition of production
equipment, resulting in a decrease in 2021. These decreases were partially offset by increased headcount, higher incentive
compensation, additional investment in marketing spend and increased project consulting costs.

Operatingtt Income

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $200.7 million compared to $135.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The increase in gross profit gains and lappinga the Voortman acquisition and integration costs incurred in
the prior year contributed to the higher operating income in the current year.

34



Other ExpenseEE

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest expense related to our term loan was $38.6 million and
$41.8 million, respectively. Also during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 we recognized a $0.6 million gain and a
$39.9 million gain, respectively, on the fair value remeasurement of our liability-classified public and private placement
warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2021 we also recognized an unrealized gain of $0.5 million compared to a loss
of $1.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 related to the remeasurement of certain CAD denominated liabilities.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 25.4% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 15.9% for the year ended December 31,
2020. The effective tax rates in both periods were impacted by non-taxable mark-to-market adjustments on our liability-
classified warrants. Additionally, the effective tax rate forff the year ended December 31, 2021 reflects a tax benefit related to
revaluing our deferred tax liabia lities due to a change in the estimated state tax rate, while the effective tax rate forff the year
ended December 31, 2020 reflects a portion of income which was allocated to the non-controlling interest, a pass-through entity
for tax purposes.

Net Income

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net income was $119.3 million compared to $108.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. Excluding the $0.6 million gain and $39.9 million gain on remeasurement of warrant liabilities for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, net income increased as a result of higher gross profits, lower operating
costs and lower interest expense.

EEar ininrr ggsn Pe Sr ShhareSSS

Our earnings per Class A share was $0.91 (basic) and $0.86 (dilutive) for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to
$0.84 (basic) and $0.51 (dilutive) for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in basic and diluted earningsr per share
was due to the net income impacts noted abovea .
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RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Adjusted net revenue, adjusted gross profit, adjusted gross margin, adjusted operating income, adjusted net income, adjusted net
income margin, adjusted Class A net income, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, and adjusted EPS collectively
referred to as “Non-GAAP Financial Measures,” are commonly used in our industry and should not be construed as an
alternative to net revenue, gross profit, gross margin operating income, net income, net income margin, net income attributed to
Class A stockholders or earnings per share as indicators of operating performance (as determined in accordance with GAAP).
These Non-GAAP Financial Measures may not be comparam blea to similarly titled measures reported by other companim es. We
included these Non-GAAP Financial Measures because we believe the measures provide management and investors with
additional information to measure the Company’s performance, estimate the Company’s value and evaluate the Company’s
ability to service debt.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures are adjusted to exclude certain items that affect comparam bila ity. The adjustments are itemized in
the tables below. You are encouraged to evaluate these adjustments and the reason we consider them appropria ate forff
supplemental analysis. In evaluating adjustments, you should be aware that in the future the Company may incur expenses that
are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments set forth below. The presentation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
should not be construed as an inference that futff urett results will be unaffected by unusual or recurring items.

For example, we define adjusted EBITDA as net income adjusted to exclude (i) interest expense, net, (ii) depreciation and
amortization (iii) income taxes and (iv) share-based compensation, as further adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items
that the Company does not consider indicative of its ongoing operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an
analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitutett for analysis of the Company's results as reported
under GAAP. For example, adjusted EBITDA:

• does not reflect the Company’s capita al expenditures, future requirements for capita al expenditures or contractual
commitments;

• does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for,ff the Company’s working capita al needs;

• does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal
payments, on the Company’s debt; and

• does not reflect payments related to income taxes, the tax receivable agreement or distributions to the non-controlling
interest to reimburse its tax liability.
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Year Ended December 31, 2021

($ and shares in thousands)
Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin

Operating
Income

Net
Income

Net
Income
Margin

Diluted
EPS

GAAP results .................................................................... $ 409,983 35.9 % $ 200,738 $ 119,299 10.4 % $ 0.86

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Foreign currency remeasurement ................................. — — — (505) — —
Project consulting costs (1)........................................... — — 6,081 6,081 0.5 0.04

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities .................... — — — (566) — —
Tax receivable agreement remeasurement ................... — — (1,409) (1,409) (0.1) (0.01)

Other (2) ....................................................................... 704 0.1 2,107 4,338 0.4 0.03

Remeasurement of tax liabilities .................................. — — — (3,357) (0.3) (0.03)

Tax impact of adjustments............................................ — — — (1,871) (0.2) (0.01)

Adjusted Non-GAAP results.............................................. $ 410,687 36.0 % $ 207,517 122,010 10.7 $ 0.88

Income tax .................................................................... 45,741 4.0

Interest expense ............................................................ 39,762 3.5

Depreciation and amortization...................................... 51,681 4.5

Share-based compensation ........................................... 9,585 0.8

Adjusted EBITDA ............................................................. $ 268,779 23.5 %

(1) Project consulting costs are included within general and administrative on the consolidated statement of operations.

(2) Costs related to certain corporate initiatives, including $2.8 million of Voortman acquisition related costs. Of the total $4.3 million, $0.7 million is included
in cost of goods sold, $1.4 million is included in general and administrative and $2.2 million is included in other non-operating expenses.
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Year Ended December 31, 2020

($ and shares in thousands)
Net

Revenue
Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin

Operating
Income

Net
Income

Net
Income
Margin

Class A
Net

Income
Diluted
EPS

GAAP results.................................. $ 1,016,609 $ 355,639 35.0 % $135,310 $108,297 10.7% $104,676 $0.51
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Foreign currency
remeasurement .......................... — — — — 2,065 0.2 1,966 0.02
Acquisition, disposal and
integration related costs (1) ....... 6,821 7,963 0.5 29,166 29,166 2.7 27,569 0.22
Facility transition costs (2)........ — 3,681 0.4 5,710 5,710 0.6 5,396 0.04
Impairment of property and
equipment .................................. — — — 3,009 3,009 0.3 2,909 0.02
Tax receivable agreement
remeasurement — — — 760 760 0.1 760 —
COVID-19 costs (3) .................. — 2,082 0.2 2,388 2,388 0.2 2,257 0.02
Change in fair value of warrant
liabilities .................................... — — — — (39,941) (3.9) (39,941) —
Other — — — 100 1,766 0.2 1,681 0.01
Remeasurement of tax
liabilities .................................... — — — — (455) (0.1) (455) —
Tax impact of adjustments ........ — — — — (10,961) (1.1) (10,961) (0.09)

Adjusted Non-GAAP results .......... $ 1,023,430 $ 369,365 36.1 % $ 176,443 101,804 9.9 $ 95,857 $ 0.75

Income tax................................. 31,821 3.1
Interest expense ......................... 42,826 4.2
Depreciation and amortization .. 54,940 5.4
Share-based compensation ........ 8,671 0.9

Adjusted EBITDA.......................... $ 240,062 23.5 %

(1) Adjustments to net revenue represent initial slotting fees paid to customers to obtain space in customer warehouses for the Voortman transition.
Adjustments to operating costs included $8.0 million of selling expense, $8.9 million of general and administrative expenses and $4.3 million of business
combination transaction costs on the consolidated statement of operations.

(2) Facility transition costs are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations.

(3) COVID-19 costs are included in cost of goods sold and general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. Total COVID-19
non-GAAP adjustments primarily consist of costs of incremental cleaning and sanitation, personal protective equipment and employee bonuses in the first half
of 2020.
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Adjusted Net Revenue

There were no adjustments to net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021. Net revenue increased $118.6 million, or
11.6%, compared to adjusted net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020, with higher volumes accounting for
approximately seven percentage points of the annual growth. Sweet baked goods net revenue increased $105.1 million or 11.4%
due to higher volume in Convenience, Grocery and Dollar channels, the benefit of pricing actions implemented in the second
half of the year and continued momentumtt of single-serve products driving favorablea product mix. Cookies adjusted net revenue
increased $13.5 million or 13.1% due to strong distribution growth in 2021, including introduction to the Convenience channel
and pricing actions.

Adjusted Gross Margin

Adjusted gross margin was 36.0% for the year ended December 31, 2021, a decrease of 13 basis points fromff an adjusted gross
margin of 36.1% for the year ended December 31, 2020. Adjusted gross margin was relatively flat in comparim son to the prior
year as transportation and input cost inflation was offset by productivity initiatives, pricing actions and favorablea product mix.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA was $268.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $240.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The improvement in adjusted EBITDA was driven by higher sales volume, productivity initiatives, pricing
actions and the realization of Voortman cost synergies, partially offset by transportation and input cost inflation as well as
increased headcount, higher incentive compensation and additional investment in marketing spend.

Adjusted EPS

Adjusted EPS was $0.88 for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $0.75 for the year ended December 31, 2020. The
improvemm ent in adjusted EPS was driven by strong adjusted EBITDA performance along with decreases in interest expense and
depreciation and amortization, partially offset by the dilutive impactm of settling the public and private warrants.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are from the cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet, future cash flow generated from
operations, and availability under our revolving credit agreement (“Revolver”). We believe that cash flows from operations and
the current cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet will be sufficient to satisfy the anticipated cash requirements
associated with our existing operations for at least the next 12 months. Our future cash requirements include the purchase
commitments forff certain raw materials and packaging used in our production process, scheduled rent on leased facilities,
scheduled debt service payments on our term loan and settlements on related interest rate swap ca ontracts, payments on our tax
receivable agreement, settlements on our outstanding foreign currency contracts and outstanding purchase orders on capita al
projects.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash from our operating activities depends on our future performancff e, which is subjeu ct to
general economic, political, financial, competitive and other facff tors beyond our control. In addition, our future capita al
expenditures and other cash requirements could be higher than we currently expect as a result of various factors, including any
expansion of our business that we undertake, including acquisitions. We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with
an original maturitt y of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

We had working capita al, excluding cash and warrant liabilities, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 of $17.9 million and $7.0
million, respectively. We have the ability to borrow under our Revolver to meet obligations as they come due.d As of
December 31, 2021, we had approximately $y 94.0 million availablea for borrowing, net of letters of credit, under our Revolver.

Cash Flows from Operating Activitiii es

Cash flows provided by operating activities forff the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $203.0 million and $159.2
million, respectively. The increase in operating cash flows was driven by an increase in net income after adjusting for non-cash
items such as change in fair value of warrant liabilities, depreciation and amortization, share-based compensation and
impaim rment and loss on sale of assets.

Cash Flows provided by ab nd used in Iii nvII estingii Activitiett s

Investing activities used $65.4 million and $374.3 million of cash for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. During 2020, we funded $316.0 million of the net cash required to purchase Voortman from cash on hand and the
proceeds from an incremental term loan on our existing credit facility. Cash used for the purchase of property and equipment
reflects planned investments in our bakeries, including new production lines.
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Cash Flows provided by ab nd used in Fii inanFF cingii Activtt ities

Financing activities used $61.3 million of cash for the year ended December 31, 2021 and provided $103.2 million of cash for
the year ended December 31, 2020. The net outflow for 2021 consisted of cash used to repurchase 3.3 million shares of our
common stock under our existing securities repurchase authorization offset by cash inflows from the proceeds on exercise of
employem e stock options and proceeds from the exercise of public warrants prior to the amendment of the warrant agreement in
July 2021. The net inflow in 2020 reflects proceeds from debt originated to fund the purchase of Voortman, offset by cash
outflows related to the repurchase of 2.0 million warrants and 0.4 million shares from the Metropoulos Entities as part of the
exchange of their last remaining Class B units in Hostess Holdings, LP and distributions to non-controlling interest, which was
dissolved in Q4 2020. Both periods reflected similar activity on cash outflows related to scheduled payments under the tax
receivable agreement and term loan.

Long-Term Debt

As fof Dece bmber 31, 2021, $, 1,091.6 million ggaggreggate p irinciipall amount fof our term lloan andnd $6.0 million gg gaggregate iprinciipall
amount fof lletters fof credidit, r deducinging hthe amount availil blable u dnder hthe Re lvolver, were outst diandi gng. See Note 15. Commiitments
dand Contingeinge incies to hthe liconsoliddat ded fifina inci lal statements iin Part II, Item 8 fof hithis Annuall Report on Form 10-K ffor

i finformatiion gregardingrding hthe lletters fof credidit. W he h dad no outst diandi gng borrowingsborrowings dunder our Re lvolver as off Dece bmber 31, 2021. As
fof Dece bmber 31, 2021, we were iin com lpliiance iwi hth allll covenants dunder our term lloan a dnd hthe Re lvolver. hThe Re lvolver cont iains
certaiin res itrictiive fifinanci lial covenants. Ba dsed on our current dand projeproject ded fifina inci lal fperformanceff , w be b leliieve hthat we willill
complyly iwithh thhese covenant fs forff hthe fforeseeablblea ffuture.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
requires the use of judgment, estimates and assumptions. We make such subjeu ctive determinations after careful consideration
of our historical performance, management’s experience, current economic trends and events and information from outside
sources. Inherent in this process is the possibility that actual results could differ fromff these estimates and assumptions for any
particular period.

Our signisignifificant accountingunting lipoli icies are ddet iailled id in Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies fof hthe notes to our
cons lioliddat ded fifina inci lal statements wi hithiin Item 8. iCritiic lal acc iounti gng polippoli icies are d fidefi dned as hthose lipoli icies hthat are flreflec itive fof
signisignifificant judgmejudgments, es itimates a dnd uncertaiintiies, hiwhichh c louldd pote inti lallyly lresult iin mate irialllly dy diffifferent res lults u dnder diffdifferent
assumptiions andd c diondi itions. hThe f lfoll ilowi gng iis a summ yary fof cert iain accountinging es itimates c idonsideredd c iri itical bl byy managgement.

Tr dade and Cd ConCC sumer Prom iotion gPrograms

We ffoffer ivarious lsale is incentiive gprograms to customers, hsuch as ffeature p iric de diiscounts, iin-store display incentives,
cooperative advertising programs and new product introduction fees. The mix between promotional programs, which are
classified as reductions in revenue in the statements of operations, and advertising or other marketing activities, which are
classified as marketing and selling expenses in the consolidated statements of operations, fluctuates between periods based on
our overall marketing plans, and such fluctuations have an impact on revenues. These trade programs also require management
to make estimates abouta the expected total cost of the programs and related allocations amongst participants (who might have
different levels of incentives based on various program requirements). These estimates are inherently uncertain and are
generally based on historical experience, adjusted for any new facts or circumstances that might impacm t the ultimate cost
estimate for a particular program or programs.

Goodwill all nd Indefindd ite-ltt ivll ed Trade Names

When evaluating goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impaim rment under U.S. GAAP, we may firff st perform an
assessment of qualitative factors to determine if the fair value of the reporting unit or the intangible asset is more likely than
not greater than the carryingrr amount. Such qualitative factors include, but are not limited to, macro-economic conditions,
market and industry conditions, cost considerations, competitive environment, share price flucff tuations, overall financial
performance and results of past impaim rment tests. Based on a review of the qualitative factors, if we determine it is not more
likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying value, we may bypass the quantitative impairment test. We also may
elect not to perform the qualitative assessment for the reporting unit and perform a quantitative impairment test. For our 2021
and 2020 annual impairment testing, we elected to perform qualitative assessments forff our reporting unit. No indicators of
impairment were noted.
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If a quantitative test were to be utilized forff our reporting unit, it would estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and
compare it to its carrying value. To the extent the fair value was in excess of the carrying value, no impaim rment would be
recognized. Otherwise, an impaim rment loss would be recognized for the amount that the carrying value of our reporting unit,
including goodwill, exceeded its faiff r value. In performing the quantitative test of goodwill, faiff r value would be determined
based on a calculation which would give consideration to an income approach utilizing the discounted cash flow method and
the market approach using the market comparable and market transaction methods.

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trademarks and trade names. The $1,538.6 million balances at both
December 31, 2021 and 2020, were recognized as part of the Hostess Business Combination and the Voortman and Cloverhill
acquisitions. The trademarks and trade names are integral to the Company’s identity and are expected to contribute indefinitely
to our corporate cash flows. Fair value for trademarks and trade names was determined using the income approaa ch. The
application of the income approaa ch was premised on a royalty savings method, whereby the trademark and trade names are
valued by reference to the amount of royalty income they could generate if they were licensed, in an arm’s-length transaction,
to a third party. These assets have been assigned an indefinite life and therefore are not amortized but rather evaluated forff
impairment annually using the qualitative or quantitative methods similar to goodwill. For 2021 and 2020, we performedff a
qualitative test. No indicators of impairment were noted.

Changes in certain significant assumptim ons could have a signififf cant impact on the estimated fair value, and therefore, a future
impairment could result for a portion of goodwill or long-lived intangible assets.

Long-lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including property and equipment and amortizablea identifiable intangible assets (e.g. customer
relationships), to assess recoverabila ity fromff projected undiscounted cash flows whenever events or changes in facts and
circumstances indicate that the carryingrr value of the assets may not be recoverablea . When such events occur, we compare the
sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group to the
carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group. The cash flows are based on our best estimate of future cash floff ws
derived from the most recent business projections. If this comparison indicates there is an impairment, the carrying value of the
asset is reduced d to its estimated fairff value. We also evaluate the amortization periods assigned to our intangible assets to
determine whether events or changes in circumstances require a revised estimate of useful lives. We recorded impaim rment
charges of $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. There were no impairm ment losses forff the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Businessii Combinationii s

We account for business acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. Assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-
controlling interests are recorded at their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of purchase price over fair
value of the net assets acquired, including the amount assigned to identifiablea intangible assets, is recorded as goodwill. Given
the time it takes to obtain pertinent information to finalize the acquired company’sm balance sheet, it may be multiple quarters
before we are able to finaff lize those initial faiff r value estimates. Accordingly, it is not uncommon for the initial estimates to be
subsequently revised.

New Accounting Pn ronouncPP ements

Referff to Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to the consolidated finaff ncial statements included in
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further informaff tion regarding recently issued accounting standards.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

Market risk on variable-rate financff ial instruments

Our term loan and Revolver each bear interest on outstanding borrowings thereunder at variable interest rates. The rate in effecff t
at December 31, 2021 for the outstanding term loan was a LIBOR-based rate of 3% per annum. At December 31, 2021, we had
an aggregate principal balance of $1,091.6 million outstanding under the term loan and $94.0 million available for borrowing,
net of letters of credit of $6.0 million, under the Revolver. Increases in market interest rates would cause interest expense to
increase and earningsr before income taxes to decrease.
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To manage the risk related to our variable rate debt, we have entered into interest rate swap contracts with counter parties to
make payments based on fixed interest rates ranging from 1.11% to 1.78% and receive payments based on the greater of
LIBOR or 0.75%. At December 31, 2021, a notional amount of $600.0 million remained outstanding on the swap contracts.
This notional amount will decrease $100.0 million in 2022, with the remaining notional amount of $500.0 million outstanding
through the maturittt y of our term loan in August 2025.

The change in interest expense and earnings before income taxes resulting from a change in market interest rates would be
dependent upon the weighted average outstanding borrowings and the portion of those borrowings that are hedged by our swap
contract duringd the reporting period. An increase in applicable interest rates of 1% would result in an increase in interest
expense of approximately $11.0 million and $11.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, or
approximately $4.6 million and $4.3 million after accounting for the impactm of our swap contracts for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Foreigni Currency Riskii

We are exposed to fluctuations of the Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) relative to the U.S. Dollar (“USD”) due to the operations of
our Burlington, Ontario bakery and distribution center and sales to customers denominated in CAD. Revenue generated from
Canadian customers, offset by the related selling expense and the operations of this facff ility, including certain raw materials,
production labora and overhead, creates a net exposure to CAD denominated expenses. We enter into contracts to purchase
Canadian dollars at fixedff exchange rates throughout the year. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had contracts to purchase a
total of $15.5 million and $14.6 million Canadian dollars at fixed exchange rates and varying dates from January 2022 through
December 2022 and January 2021 through December 2021, respectively. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, a 10% change in the
USD to CAD exchange rate would change the aggregate fair value of these contracts by approxia mately $0.9 million and $1.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Hostess Brands, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated FinFF ancial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reportie ng

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hostess Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehem nsive income, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria establia shed in Internal Controltt – InteII gratee d FrameFF work (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referredff to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flowsff for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021 based on criteria establia shed in Internal Controltt – InteII gratee d FramewFF ork (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis fii orff Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible forff these consolidated finaff ncial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Publicu Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rulrr es and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated finaff ncial statements are freeff of material misstatement,
whether dued to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated finaff ncial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated finaff ncial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finaff ncial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reportinge

A company’sm internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabila ity of finaff ncial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’sm internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditurest of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company;m and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’sm assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit MatMM ter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising fromff the current period audit of the consolidated finaff ncial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complem x judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Evaluation of customer trade allowances

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated finaff ncial statements, the Company has recorded a provision for customer
trade allowances, consisting primarily of pricing allowances and merchandising programs associated with sales to
customers. The liability recorded for the estimated cost of these programs is dependent on factors such as the ultimate
purchase volume activity, participation levels of customers, and the related settlement rates for these programs. The
Company’s liabila ity forff customer trade allowances as of December 31, 2021 was $52.7 million.

We identified the evaluation of the customer trade allowance as a critical audit matter because of the higher degree of
auditor judgment required to evaluate the Company’s estimates. This is dued to uncertainty around the amount of
settlements, which typically occur in a period subsequent to the related sales transactions, and in particular, the
estimate of purchase volumes made by retailers from distributors.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design
and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s trade process at
disaggregated levels. This included controls related to the Company’s trade spend trending and lookback analyses
based on final settlement. We analyzed the liability by trade allowance type to identify unusual trends. We assessed the
Company’s historical abia lity to accurately estimate its customer trade allowances by comparim ng historical estimates to
final settlements. We compared a sample of settlements subsequent to period end to the amount previously recognized
by the Company.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Kansas City, Missouri
March 1, 2022
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HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except shares)

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................................. $ 249,159 $ 173,034
Accounts receivable, net.................................................................................................................... 148,180 125,550
Inventories ......................................................................................................................................... 52,813 49,348
Prepaids and other current assets....................................................................................................... 10,564 21,614
Total current assets ............................................................................................................................... 460,716 369,546
Property and equipment, net................................................................................................................. 335,305 303,959
Intangible assets, net............................................................................................................................. 1,944,392 1,967,903
Goodwill ............................................................................................................................................... 706,615 706,615
Other assets, net.................................................................................................................................... 19,283 17,446
Total assets ........................................................................................................................................... $ 3,466,311 $ 3,365,469

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Long-term debt and lease obligations payable within one year ........................................................ $ 14,170 $ 13,811
Tax receivable agreement obligations payable within one year........................................................ 11,600 11,800
Accounts payable............................................................................................................................... 68,104 61,428
Customer trade allowances................................................................................................................ 52,746 46,779
Warrant liabilities .............................................................................................................................. — 861
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities .................................................................................. 47,009 55,715
Total current liabilities.......................................................................................................................... 193,629 190,394
Long-term debt and lease obligations................................................................................................... 1,099,975 1,113,037
Tax receivable agreement obligations .................................................................................................. 134,265 144,744
Deferred tax liability............................................................................................................................. 317,847 295,009
Other long-term liabilities .................................................................................................................... 1,605 1,560
Total liabilities...................................................................................................................................... 1,747,321 1,744,744
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 142,031,329 shares
issued and 138,278,573 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 130,791,908 shares
issued and 130,347,464 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2020................................................. 14 13
Additional paid in capital ..................................................................................................................... 1,303,254 1,281,018
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ............................................................................................... (506) (10,407)
Retained earnings ................................................................................................................................. 475,400 356,101
Treasury stock....................................................................................................................................... (59,172) (6,000)
Stockholders’ equity ............................................................................................................................. 1,718,990 1,620,725
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............................................................................................. $ 3,466,311 $ 3,365,469

December 31, December 31,
ASSETS 2021 2020
Current assets:

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands, except shares and per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019
Net revenue ........................................................................................................................... $ 1,142,036 $ 1,016,609 $ 907,675
Cost of goods sold................................................................................................................. 732,053 660,970 607,841
Gross profit ........................................................................................................................... 409,983 355,639 299,834

Operating costs and expenses:
Advertising and marketing............................................................................................... 51,683 45,724 39,775
Selling .............................................................................................................................. 36,288 46,729 30,719
General and administrative .............................................................................................. 99,173 92,860 69,423
Amortization of customer relationships........................................................................... 23,510 26,510 23,377
Business combination transaction costs .......................................................................... — 4,282 1,914
Tax receivable agreement remeasurement....................................................................... (1,409) 760 186
Gain on foreign currency contract ................................................................................... — — (7,128)
Other operating expense .................................................................................................. — 3,464 5,472

Total operating costs and expenses....................................................................................... 209,245 220,329 163,738
Operating income ................................................................................................................. 200,738 135,310 136,096
Other (income) expense:
Interest expense, net......................................................................................................... 39,762 42,826 39,870
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities........................................................................ (566) (39,941) 58,816
Other expense .................................................................................................................. 1,730 3,723 1,769

Total other expense ............................................................................................................... 40,926 6,608 100,455
Income before income taxes ................................................................................................. 159,812 128,702 35,641
Income tax expense............................................................................................................... 40,513 20,405 16,892
Net income ........................................................................................................................... 119,299 108,297 18,749
Less: Net income attributable to the non-controlling interest............................................... — 3,621 14,450

Net income attributable to Class A stockholders.................................................................. $ 119,299 $ 104,676 $ 4,299

Earnings per Class A share:
Basic................................................................................................................................... $ 0.91 $ 0.84 $ 0.04
Diluted................................................................................................................................ $ 0.86 $ 0.51 $ 0.04
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic................................................................................................................................... 131,571,733 124,927,535 110,540,264
Diluted................................................................................................................................ 138,198,176 127,723,488 111,005,689

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019
Net income ............................................................................................ $ 119,299 $ 108,297 $ 18,749
Other comprehensive income: ...............................................................
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts designated as cash flow hedges .......................................... 8,973 (16,870) (4,063)
Reclassification into net income ........................................................ 4,503 3,886 (1,705)
Income tax benefit (expense) ............................................................. (3,575) 3,421 1,222

Comprehensive income ......................................................................... 129,200 98,734 14,203

Less: Comprehensive income attributed to non-controlling interest . — 2,749 13,292

Comprehensive income attributed to Class A stockholders .................. $ 129,200 $ 95,985 $ 911

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands)

Class A Voting
Common Stock

Class B Voting
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Losses)

Retained
Earnings Treasury Stock

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Non-
controlling
Interest

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance–December 31, 2018 ......... 100,046 $ 10 30,256 $ 3 $ 897,652 $ 2,523 $ 247,126 — $ — $ 1,147,314 $ 350,454

Comprehensive income.................... — — — — — (3,388) 4,299 — — 911 13,292

Share-based compensation, net of
income taxes of $1,354 .................... 209 — — — 7,877 — — — — 7,877 —

Exchanges ........................................ 21,845 2 (21,845) (2) 262,547 109 — — — 262,656 (262,656)

Distributions..................................... — — — — — — — — — — (6,658)

Exercise of employee stock options. 7 — — — 23 — — — — 23 —

Payment of taxes for employee
stock awards ..................................... — — (1,431) — — — — (1,431) —

Tax receivable agreement arising
from exchanges, net of income
taxes of $28,817 ............................... — — — — (42,863) — — — — (42,863) —

Balance–December 31, 2019 ......... 122,107 12 8,411 1 1,123,805 (756) 251,425 — — 1,374,487 94,432

Comprehensive income.................... — — — — — (8,691) 104,676 — — 95,985 2,749

Share-based compensation,
including income taxes of $2,167 .... 223 — — — 10,838 — — — — 10,838 —

Exchanges ........................................ 8,411 1 (8,411) (1) 94,719 (960) — — — 93,759 (93,759)

Distributions..................................... — — — — — — — — — — (3,422)

Exercise of employee stock options
and warrants ..................................... 50 — — — 690 — — — — 690 —

Payment of taxes for employee
stock awards ..................................... — — (1,440) — — — — (1,440) —

Reclassification of public warrants .. — — — — 68,503 — — — — 68,503 —

Repurchase of common stock .......... (444) — — — — — — 444 (6,000) (6,000) —

Tax receivable agreement arising
from exchanges, net of income
taxes of $11,818 ............................... — — — — (16,097) — — — — (16,097) —

Balance-December 31, 2020 .......... 130,347 13 — $ — 1,281,018 (10,407) 356,101 444 (6,000) 1,620,725 —

Comprehensivem income (loss) .......... — — — — — 9,901 119,299 — — 129,200 —

Share-based compensation ............... 224 — — — 9,585 — — — — 9,585 —

Exercise of employee stock options. 313 — — — 4,488 — — — — 4,488 —

Exercise of public warrants .............. 881 — — — 9,632 — — — — 9,632 —

Cashless exercise of public
warrants, net of fees of $500 ............ 9,823 1 — — — — — — — 1 —

Payment of taxes for employee
stock awards ..................................... — — (1,767) — — — — (1,767) —

Reclassification of warrants ............. — — — — 298 — — — — 298 —

Repurchase of common stock .......... (3,309) — — — — — — 3,309 (53,172) (53,172) —

Balance-December 31, 2021........... 138,279 $ 14 — $ — $1,303,254 $ (506) $ 475,400 3,753 $(59,172) $ 1,718,990 $ —

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Operating activities
Net income ................................................................................................................................. $ 119,299 $ 108,297 $ 18,749
Depreciation and amortization ................................................................................................... 51,681 54,940 43,334
Impairment and loss on sale of assets ........................................................................................ — 3,329 1,976
Non-cash loss on debt modification ........................................................................................... — — 531
Debt discount (premium) amortization ...................................................................................... 1,238 1,289 (747)
Tax receivable agreement remeasurement ................................................................................. (1,409) 760 185
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities .................................................................................. (566) (39,941) 58,816
Non-cash fees on sale of business .............................................................................................. — — 1,414
Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign currency ............................................................................... (503) 2,061 (7,128)
Non-cash lease expense.............................................................................................................. 1,247 571 —
Share-based compensation ......................................................................................................... 9,585 8,671 9,231
Deferred taxes............................................................................................................................. 18,995 16,806 14,121
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts receivable ................................................................................................................. (22,728) 4,434 (2,570)
Inventories................................................................................................................................ (3,465) 5,824 (12,477)
Prepaids and other current assets ............................................................................................. 9,876 (5,301) 265
Accounts payable and accrued expenses.................................................................................. 13,723 1,900 14,072
Customer trade allowances ...................................................................................................... 6,056 (4,397) 4,202

Net cash provided by operating activities...................................................................................... 203,029 159,243 143,974
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment ........................................................................................ (60,803) (51,983) (34,875)
Acquisition of business, net of cash ........................................................................................... — (316,013) —
Proceeds fromff sale of business, net of cash ............................................................................... — — 63,345
Acquisition and development of software assets........................................................................ (4,622) (6,269) (5,609)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ....................................................................... (65,425) (374,265) 22,861
Financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt and financing lease obligations................................................. (11,167) (11,168) (9,894)
Proceeds from long-term debt origination, net of fees paid ....................................................... — 136,888 —
Debt refinancing costs ................................................................................................................ — — (7,433)
Distributions to non-controlling interest .................................................................................... — (3,422) (6,658)
Repurchase of warrants .............................................................................................................. — (2,000) —
Repurchase of common stock..................................................................................................... (53,172) (6,000) —
Payment of taxes related to the net issuance of employee stock awards.................................... (1,767) (1,440) (1,431)
Payments on tax receivable agreement ...................................................................................... (9,270) (10,327) (2,732)
Cash received from exercise of options and warrants, net of fees ............................................. 14,121 690 23

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities....................................................................... (61,255) 103,221 (28,125)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ..................................................... (224) (252) —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................................................................... 76,125 (112,053) 138,710
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period......................................................................... 173,034 285,087 146,377
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period .............................................................................. $ 249,159 $ 173,034 $ 285,087
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Interest paid ................................................................................................................................ $ 38,567 $ 41,776 $ 43,986
Taxes paid................................................................................................................................... $ 12,081 $ 5,825 $ 1,840

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing
Accrued capital expenditures ..................................................................................................... $ 2,244 $ 4,718 $ 2,910

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Summary of Significantff Accounting Policies

Descriptii iontt of Business

Hostess Brands, Inc. is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Lenexa, Kansas. The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Hostess Brands, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”). The
Company is a leading sweet snacks company focused on developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and
distributing snacks in North America under the Hostess® and Voortman® brands. The Company produces a variety
of new and classic treats including iconic Hostess® Donettes®, Twinkies®, CupCakes, Ding Dongs® and Zingers®
as well as a variety of Voortman® cookies and wafers. The Hostess® brand dates back to 1919 when the Hostess®
CupCakeu was introduced to the public, followed by Twinkies® in 1930.

Basis oii f Po rePP sentationtt

The Company’s operations are primarily conducted through its wholly-owned operating subsidiary, Hostess Brands,
LLC (“HBLLC”) and its subsidiaries. Hostess Brands, Inc. is a holding company with no significant assets or
operations other than cash and cash equivalents of $56.2 million and $40.4 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, tax receivable agreement liability, investment in its subsidiaries and current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities related to its earningsr from HBLLC. The consolidated financial statements included herein have
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The accompanying
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned, majoria ty-owned or
controlled subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with current period
presentation.

The Company’s operating subsidiaries are wholly-owned by Hostess Holdings, a direct subsidiary of Hostess
Brands, Inc. Prior to the final exchange of Class B stock (as described below), Hostess Brands, Inc. held 100% of
the general partnership interest in Hostess Holdings and a majority of the limited partnership interests therein and
consolidated Hostess Holdings in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The remaining limited
partnership interests in Hostess Holdings were held by the holders of Class B stock.

C. Dean Metropoulos and entities under his control (the “Metropoulos Entities”) held their equity investment in the
Company primarily through Class B limited partnership units (“Class B Units”) in Hostess Holdings LP (“Hostess
Holdings”) and an equal number of shares of the Company’s Class B common stock (“Class B Stock”). Each Class
B Unit, together with a share of Class B Stock held by the Metropoulos Entities, was exchangeable forff a share of the
Company’s Class A common stock. The interest of the Class B Units was reflected in the consolidated finaff ncial
statements as a non-controlling interest. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Metropoulos Entities
exchanged all of their remaining Class B Units and Class B Stock for Class A common stock. At December 31, 2021
and 2020, there were no outstanding Class B Units or Class B stock and there is no non-controlling interest reported
on the December 31, 2021 or 2020 consolidated balance sheets.

Subsequent to the Metropoulos Entities’ final exchange of Class B Units, all subsidiaries, including Hostess
Holdings are wholly owned by the Company.

Prior to the final exchange of Class B Units, the Company determined that Hostess Holdings, a limited partnership,
was a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and that the Company was the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The Company
determined that, due to its ownership of Hostess Holdings’ general partnership units, the Company had the power to
direct all of the activities of Hostess Holdings, with no substantive kick-out rights or participating rights by the
limited partners individually or as a group. Hostess Holdings constituted the majority of the assets of the Company.

The Company has one reportable segment: Snacking. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had two
reportable segments: Snacking and In-Store Bakery prior to the sale of its operations on August 30, 2019.

HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
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Principles of Consolidatiii on

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned
or controlled subsidiaries (including those for which the Company was the primary beneficiary of a VIE),
collectively referred to as the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Adoptio on of New Accounting Standardstt

On January 1, 2021, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), 2019-12 Income Taxes (Topic
740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This ASU simplifies the accounting for certain income tax
related items, including intraperiod tax allocations, deferred taxes related to foreign subsidiaries and step-up in tax
basis of goodwill. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated finaff ncial
statements.

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU requires entities to measure the impaim rment of
certain financial instruments, including trade receivables, based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated finaff ncial statements.

Use of Estimtt ates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and for the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management utilizes
estimates, including, but not limited to, valuation and useful lives of tangible and intangible assets, future cash tax
savings rate, incremental borrowing rate and the allocation of the liability between short-term and long-term based
on when the Company realizes certain tax attributes and reserves forff trade and promotional allowances. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalentsll

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less
when purchased as cash equivalents and records these at cost. Under the Company’s cash management system,
checks that have been issued and are out of the control of the Company, but which have not cleared the bank by the
balance sheet date, are reported as a reduction of cash.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represents amounts invoiced to customers for which the Company’s obligation to the customer
has been satisfied. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s accounts receivable were $148.2 million and
$125.6 million, respectively, which have been reduced by allowances for damages occurring during shipment,
quality claims and doubtful accounts in the amount of $3.0 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

The allowance for doubtful accounts represents the Company’s estimate of expected credit losses related to trade
receivables. To estimate the allowance forff doubtful accounts, the Company leverages information on historical
losses, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecff asts of future conditions. Account balances are
written off against the allowance when the Company deems the amount is uncollectible.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizablea value on a first-iff n firsff t-out basis. Abnormal amounts of
idle facff ility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) are expensed in the period they are
incurred.

The components of inventories are as follows:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020
Ingredients and packaging ................................................................................................. $ 22,607 $ 22,965
Finished goods ................................................................................................................... 26,988 23,583
Inventory in transit to customers........................................................................................ 3,218 2,800

$ 52,813 $ 49,348

Property and Equipment

Additions to property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated straight-line over estimated useful lives of
15 to 50 years for buildings and land improvements and 3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment. In order to
maximize the efficiency of the Company’s operations and to operate the acquired equipment, occasionally the
Company will remove and relocate equipment between bakeries. Such removal and relocation costs are expensed as
incurred. Reinstallation costs are capita alized if the useful life is extended or the equipment is significantly improved.
Otherwise, reinstallation costs are expensed as incurred. Expenditurest for repairs and maintenance are charged to
expense when incurred. Expenditurest for majora renewals and betterments, which extend the useful lives of existing
property and equipment, are capitalized and depreciated. Upon retirement or disposition of property and equipment,
the capita alized cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any resulting gain
or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company assesses property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in facts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverablea based on projected undiscounted
cash flows. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded impaim rment losses of $2.9
million and $0.5 million, respectively, in the Snacking segment located within other operating expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations. There were no impairment losses forff the year ended December 31, 2021.

Software Costs

Costs associated with computer software projects duringd the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred.
Once management authorizes and commits to funding a project, appropria ate appla ication development stage costs are
capita alized. Capia talization ceases when the project is substantially complem te and the software is ready for its intended
use. Upgrades and enhancements to software are capita alized when such enhancements are determined to provide
additional functionality. Training and maintenance costs associated with software applications are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalized software is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets in the amount of $14.7 million at
both December 31, 2021 and 2020. Capitalized software costs are amortized over their estimated useful life of up to
five years commencing when such assets are ready for their intended use. Software amortization expense included in
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $4.7 million, $5.3 million and
$2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Goodwill all nd Intangiblett Assets

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the goodwill balance of $706.6 million represents the excess of
the amount the Company paid forff the acquisition of Hostess Holdings from the Metropoulos Entities and other
former equity holders in a 2016 transaction and the acquisition of Voortman in 2020 over the fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The resulting goodwill was allocated to the Snacking reportablea segment.

Goodwill by reporting unit is tested for impairment annually by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a
quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an assessment of factors to determine whether it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company may
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elect not to perform the qualitative assessment for some or all reporting units and perform a quantitative impairment
test.

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trademarks and trade names. The $1,538.6 million
balance at both December 31, 2021 and 2020, was recognized as part of the 2016 acquisition of Hostess Holdings,
the 2018 acquisition of the Cloverhill Business and the 2020 acquisition of Voortman. The trademarks and trade
names are integral to the Company’s identity and are expected to contribute indefinitely to its corporate cash floff ws.
Fair value for trademarks and trade names was determined using the income approaa ch, which is considered to be
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The application of the income approaa ch was premised on a royalty savings
method, whereby the trademark and trade names are valued by reference to the amount of royalty income they could
generate if they were licensed, in an arm’s-length transaction, to a third party. These assets have been assigned an
indefinite life and therefore are not amortized but rather evaluated forff impaim rment annually using the qualitative or
quantitative methods, similar to goodwill. For the quantitative assessment, the valuation of trademarks and trade
names are determined using the relief from royalty method. Significant assumptim ons used in this method include
future trends in sales, a royalty rate and a discount rate to be applia ed to the forecasted revenue stream.

For the 2021 and 2020 annual impaim rment tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company
elected to perform the qualitative test. No indicators of impaim rment were noted. During the year ended December 31,
2019, the Company recognized an impaim rment charge of $1.0 million to the In-Store Bakery goodwill and
intangibles. See Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets for more information on impairment charges.

Also, the Company has finite-lived intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, of $405.8 million and $429.3
million on December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively, consisting of customer relationships that were recognized as
part of the Hostess Holdings, Voortman and Cloverhill acquisitions. For customer relationships, the application of
the income approaa ch (Level 3) was premised on an excess earnings method, whereby the customer relationships are
valued by the earnings expected to be generated from those customers after other capital charges. Finite-lived
intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives of the assets,
from 3 to 18 years. The weighted-average amortization period as of December 31, 2021 for customer relationships
was 17.7 years.

The Company assesses finite-lived intangible assets for impaim rment whenever events or changes in facts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverablea based on projected undiscounted
cash flows, similar to property, plant and equipment. There were no impairment losses forff the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Reserves for Self-Insurance Benefitsii

The Company’s employee health plan is self-insured up to a stop-loss amount of $0.3 million for each participant
per plan year. In addition, the Company maintains insurance programs covering its exposure to workers’
compensation. Such programs include the retention of certain levels of risks and costs through high deductibles and
other risk retention strategies. Included in the accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets is a reserve for
healthcare claims in the amount of approximately $1.9 million and $2.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, and a reserve for workers’ compensation claims of $3.1 million and $2.9 million at December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Leases

The Company recognizes a right of use asset and corresponding lease liability on the consolidated balance sheets for
all lease transactions with terms of more than 12 months. Agreements are determined to contain a lease if they
convey the use and control of an underlying physical asset. Based on the naturt e of the lease transaction, leases are
either classified as financing or operating. Under both classifications, the right of use asset and liability are initially
valued based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments using an effective borrowing rate at the
inception of the lease. The Company determined the effective borrowing rate based on its expected incremental
borrowing rate on collateralized debt. At December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the weighted average effective
borrowing rate for outstanding operating leases was 3.6%, 3.6% and 4.4%, respectively.
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Under a finaff ncing lease, interest expense related to the lease liability is recognized over the lease term using an
effective interest rate method and right of use assets are amortized straight-line over the term of the lease. Under an
operating lease, minimum lease payments are expensed straight-line over the lease term. Lease liabilities are
amortized using an effective interest rate method and right of use assets are reduced based on the excess of the sum
of the straight-line lease expense and the reduction of the lease liability over the actual lease payments. At
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the weighted average remaining terms on operating leases were approximately
seven, eight and six years, respectively.

Variablea lease payments, such as taxes and insurance, are expensed as incurred. Expenses related to leases with
original terms less than 12 months (short-term leases) are expensed as incurred. For all leases related to distribution,
bakery and corporate facilities, the Company has elected not to separate non-lease componentm s fromff lease
components.

At December 31, 2021, right of use assets related to operating leases are included in property and equipment, net on
the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 5. Property and Equipment). Lease liabia lities for operating leases are
included in the current and non-current portions of long-term debt and lease obligations on the consolidated balance
sheets (see Note 10. Debt).

Revenue Recognitiott n

Net revenue consists primarily of sales of packaged foodff products. The Company recognizes revenue when the
performance obligations under the terms of its agreements with customers have been satisfied. The Company’s
obligation is satisfiedff when control of the product is transferred to its customers along with the title, risk of loss and
rewards of ownership. Depending on the arrangement with the customer, these criteria are met either at the time the
product is shipped or when the product is received by such customer.

Customers are invoiced at the time of shipment or customer pickup based on credit terms established in accordance
with industry practice. Invoices generally require payment within 30 days. As a result, revenue is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component. Net revenue is recognized in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for that product. Amounts billed to customers
related to shipping and handling are classified as net revenue and accounted for as fulfillment activities, rather than
separate performance obligations. The Company generally does not accept product returns and provides these
allowances for anticipated expired or damaged products.

Trade promotions, consisting primarily of customer pricing allowances and merchandising funds are offered through
various programs to customers. A provision for estimated trade promotions is recorded as a reduction of revenue in
the same period when the sale is recognized, with the liabila ity forff these allowances included within customer trade
allowances on the consolidated balance sheets. Differences between estimated and actual reductions to the
transaction price are recognized as a change in estimate in a subsequent period.

The Company also offers rebates based on purchase levels, products carried in retail stores and customers’
promotional activity. The ultimate cost of these programs is dependent on various factors such as actual purchase
volumes or promotional performance and is the subject of significant management estimates. Assumptions included
in the development of these estimates are primarily based on historical performance adjusted for current trends. The
Company regularly reviews these assumptim ons and related estimates. The Company accounts forff these programs as
variable consideration and recognizes a reduction in revenue in the same period as the underlying program. Our
recorded liability forff allowances is included within customer trade allowances on the consolidated balance sheets.

For product produced by third parties, management evaluates whether the Company is the principal (i.e., report
revenue on a gross basis) or agent (i.e., report revenue on a net basis). Management has determined that it is the
principal in all cases, since it establishes its own pricing for such product, assumes the credit risk forff amounts billed
to its customers, and often takes physical control of the product before it is shipped to customers.
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The folff lowing tables disaggregate revenue by geographica al market and category:

Year Ended December 31, 2021

(In thousands)( )
Sweet Baked
Goods Cookies Total

United States .................................................................................... $ 1,025,541 $ 98,797 $ 1,124,338

Canada.............................................................................................. — 17,698 17,698

$ 1,025,541 $ 116,495 $ 1,142,036

Year Ended December 31, 2020

(In thousands)( )
Sweet Baked
Goods Cookies Total

United States..................................................................................... $ 920,388 $ 77,692 $ 998,080

Canada .............................................................................................. — 18,529 18,529

$ 920,388 $ 96,221 $ 1,016,609

Year Ended December 31, 2019

(In thousands)( )
Sweet Baked
Goods

In-Store
Bakery Total

United States .................................................................................... $ 878,973 $ 28,702 $ 907,675

Canada.............................................................................................. — — —

$ 878,973 $ 28,702 $ 907,675

The Company has one customer that accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s total net revenue. The percentage
of total net revenues for this customer is presented below by segment:

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Snacking ................................................................................. 18.9 % 20.2 % 23.3 %

In-Store Bakery....................................................................... — % — % 0.3 %

Total........................................................................................ 18.9 % 20.2 % 23.6 %
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Advertising CosCC ts

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense included in advertising and marketing in the
consolidated statements of operations was $9.5 million, $6.2 million and $4.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Foreign Cgg urreCC ncy Remeasurement

Certain Voortman sales and production related costs are denominated in the Canadian dollar (“CAD”). CAD
transactions have been remeasured into U.S. dollars (“USD”) on the consolidated statements of operations using the
average exchange rate forff the reporting period. Balances expected to be settled in CAD have been remeasured into
USD on the consolidated balance sheets using the exchange rate at the end of the period. During the year ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company recognized a gain on remeasurement of $0.5 million and losses of
$1.8 million, respectively, reported within other expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Equityii Compensation

The grant date faiff r values of stock options are valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, including a
simplified method to estimate the number of periods to exercise date (i.e., the expected option term). Management
has determined that the equity plan has not been in place for a sufficient amount of time to estimate the post vesting
exercise behavior. Therefore, it will continue to use this simplified method until such time as it has sufficient history
to provide a reasonable basis to estimate the expected term. Forfeiturestt are recognized as a reduction of expense as
incurred.

For awards which have market conditions, compensation expense is calculated based on the number of shares
expected to vest after assessing the probability that the performancff e or market criteria will be met. For market-based
awards, probability is not reassessed and compensation expense is not remeasured subsequent to the initial
assessment on the grant date.

Shares issued forff option exercises, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards may be either authorized but
unissued shares or shares of treasury stock.

C lColllelll ctiivtt e Bargainingargaining AgAgreementstt

As of December 31, 2021, approximately 44%, of thhe Com ypany’s employeepm s are covered by collective bargaining
agreements. Two of these agreements expire before December 31, 2022.

Employm ee Benefit Plansll

The Company provides several benefit plans forff employees depending upon employee eligibility. The Company has
a health care plan, a defined contribution retirement plan (401(k)), company-sponsorem d life iff nsurance, and other
benefit plans. For the defined contribution retirement plan, the Company matches a percentage of employee
contributions up to a specified amount. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, contributions to the
defined contribution retirement plan were $2.4 million, $2.0 million and $1.8 million, respectively.

The Company offers an annual incentive plan based upon annual operating targets. Final payout is approved by the
Board of Directors or a committee thereof. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 there was $21.2 million and
$14.2 million accruedrr for this plan, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes as well as Canadian income tax on certain
subsidiaries.

Prior to the final exchange of Class B Units, the Company owned a controlling interest in Hostess Holdings, which
was treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As a
partnership, Hostess Holdings was not directly subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any
taxable income or loss generated by Hostess Holdings was passed through to and included in the taxable income or
loss of its partners, including the Company.

The Company accounts forff income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
liabilities and assets are determined based on the differenceff between the financial statement and tax basis of assets
and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differenceff is expected to reverse.
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Additionally, the impacm t of changes in the enacted tax rates and laws on deferred taxes, if any, is reflected in the
financial statements in the period of enactment.

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not to be
sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment
occurs (see Note 14. Income Taxes).

Derivatives

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had outstanding public and private placement warrants which were
originated in the 2015 initial public offering of a special purpose acquisition companym (“SPAC”), which
subsequently acquired Hostess Holdings in 2016 in a transaction that resulted in the Company becoming the parent
company of Hostess Holdings. Due to certain provisions in the warrant agreement, the Company concluded that
certain warrants do not meet the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity. In periods in which the public and
private warrants meet the definition of a liabia lity-classified derivative under Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 815, the Company recognized these warrants within current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at
fair value, with subsequent changes in faiff r value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations at each
reporting date. The warrants expired on November 4, 2021 and are no longer outstanding.

The Company has entered into interest rate swap ca ontracts to mitigate its exposure to changes in the variablea interest
rate on its long-term debt. The Company has also entered into Canadian Dollar (CAD) purchase contracts to mitigate
its exposure to foreign currency exchange rates on its CAD denominated production costs. Both interest rate swapa
contracts and CAD purchase contracts are designated as cash floff w hedges. Changes in the fair value of these
instruments are recognized in accumulated other comprehem nsive income in the consolidated balance sheets and
reclassified into earnings in the period in which the hedged transaction affects earnings.r Hedging ineffectiveness, if
any, is recognized as a component of interest expense forff interest rate swap ca ontracts and costs of goods sold for
CAD purchase contracts in the consolidated statements of operations. Payments made under the interest rate swapa
contracts are included in the supplemental disclosure of interest paid in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Company also used a CAD purchase contract to mitigate the impacm t of foreiff gn currency exchange rates on its
January 2020 purchase of Voortman. This contract was settled duringd the year ended December 31, 2020 and did not
qualify as a cash flowff hedge.

See Note 11. Derivative Instruments forff more information on our derivative instruments.

Fair Vii alueVV Measurements

The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs to the best extent possible. The Company determines faiff r value based on assumptim ons that
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liabia lity in the principal or most advantageous market. When
considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following fair value hierarchy
distinguishes between observablea and unobservablea inputs, which are categorized in one of the following levels:

• Level 1 inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forff identical assets or liabilities accessible to the
reporting entity at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable forff the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

• Level 3 inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabila ity used to measure fair value to the extent that
observable inputs are not availablea , thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market
activity forff the asset or liabila ity at measurement date.
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New Accountingtt Pronouncementstt

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects
of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides practical expedients and exceptions for applying
GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria
are met. The expedients and exceptions provided by the amendments in this updatu e appla y only to contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions that reference the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another
reference rate expected to be discontinued as a result of reference rate reform. These amendments are not applicable
to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after December 31, 2022. ASU
No. 2020-04 is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022 and may be applied to contract
modifications and hedging relationships from the beginning of an interim period that includes or is subsequent to
March 12, 2020. The Company is evaluating the impacm t the new standard will have on the consolidated finaff ncial
statements and related disclosures but does not anticipate a material impact.

2. Business Combinations and Divestitures

Voortman Acquisition

On January 3, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the shares of the parent company of Voortman,
a manufacturer of premium, branded wafers as well as sugar-free and specialty cookies for approximately
$328.7 million ($427.0 million CAD), reflecting final working capita al and other closing statement adjustments.

Net cash outflow related to the purchase price duringd the year ended December 31, 2020 was $316.0 million. This
net cash outflow reflects a non-cash gain on a related foreign currency contract of $6.9 million, cash acquired of
$1.6 million and an outstanding liability as of December 31, 2020 for certain purchase price adjustments of
$4.2 million. As of December 31, 2021 the outstanding liability for certain purchase price adjustments was
$4.3 million.

The acquisition of Voortman diversifies and expands the Company’s product offerings and manufacturing
capabia lities in the adjacent Cookie category. The acquisition also leverages the Company’s customer reach and lean
and agile business model. The Company expects to realize additional benefits of scale via sharing establia shed,
efficient infrastructuret and strengthening collaborata ive retail partnerships in the United States and Canada.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, working capita al and other adjustments of $4.7 million were made to
goodwill. Included in other non-current liabilities in the tablea below is a $1.3 million liability for pre-acquisition
uncertain tax positions. The opening balance sheet was offseff t by a non-current receivable balance of $1.3 million
representing expected recovery through indemnifications.
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The folff lowing is a summary of the finff al purchase price allocation:

(In thousands)( )
Cash............................................................................................................................................................ $ 1,639
Accounts receivable ................................................................................................................................... 24,848
Inventory .................................................................................................................................................... 7,564
Income tax receivable................................................................................................................................. 7,522
Other current assets .................................................................................................................................... 420
Property and equipment ............................................................................................................................. 32,028
Customer relationships (1) ......................................................................................................................... 11,100
Trade names (2).......................................................................................................................................... 130,000
Goodwill (3) ............................................................................................................................................... 170,762
Other non-current assets............................................................................................................................. 1,320
Accounts payable and accrued expenses.................................................................................................... (6,172)
Customer trade allowances......................................................................................................................... (5,428)
Lease liabilities........................................................................................................................................... (6,420)
Deferred taxes ............................................................................................................................................ (39,149)
Other non-current liabilities ....................................................................................................................... (1,320)
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed ..................................................................................................... $ 328,714

(1) Customer relationships were valued through application of the income approach (Level 3). Under this approach, revenue, operating
expenses and other costs associated with existing customers were estimated in order to derive cash flows attributable to the existing
customer relationships. The resulting cash flows were then discounted to present value to arrive at the fair value of existing customer
relationships as of the valuation date. The estimated useful lives by operating segment ranging from one to eight years represent the
approximate point in the projection period in which a majority of the assets’ cash flows are expected to be realized based on assumed
attrition rates.

(2) The trade names were valued through application of the income approach (level 3), involving the estimation of likely future sales and
an appropriate royalty rate. The trade name and trademarks are estimated to have indefinite useful lives as the Company expects a
market participant would use the trade name and trademarks in perpetuity based on their historical strength and consumer
recognition.

(3) Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. It is
primarily attributable to synergies and intangible assets such as assembled workforce which are not separately recognizable.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred $4.3 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, of expenses related to this acquisition. These expenses are classified as business combination
transaction costs on the consolidated statements of operations.

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information presents the Company’s results as though the
acquisition of Voortman had occurred at January 1, 2019. The unaudited pro forma consolidated finaff ncial
information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with U.S. GAAP:

Twelve Months Ended

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2020
December 31,

2019

(unaudited, pro forma)

Net revenue........................................................................................................................... $ 1,016,609 $ 1,007,140

Net income............................................................................................................................ 108,297 11,612

In-Store Bakery Divestiture

On August 30, 2019, the Company sold its In-Store Bakery operations, including relevant trademarks and licensing
agreements, to an unrelated party. The operations included products that were primarily sold in the in-store bakery
section of U.S. retail channels. The Company divested the operations to provide more focus on future investment in
areas of its business that better leverage its core competencies.
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The Company received proceeds from the divestiture of $65.0 million prior to transaction expenses and subject to
certain post-closing adjustments. In connection with the sale, duringd the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company recognized transaction expenses of $2.1 million and a loss on disposal of $0.3 million within other
operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

3. Exit Costs

Subsequentu to the Company’s acquisition of Voortman, activities were initiated to transition Voortman’s distribution
model to the Company’s direct-to-warehouse distribution model. The Company incurred costs to exit Voortman’s
direct-store-delivery model, including severance and contract termination costs related to third-party distributor and
leasing relationships. Total costs were $12.9 million through completion of the transition in 2020. During the year
ended December 31, 2020, contract termination costs of $8.3 million were recognized in selling expense on the
consolidated statement of operations and $4.6 million of severance costs were recognized within general and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations.

Reserves forff these activities are reported within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets and had the
following activity duringdd the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

(In thousands)( ) Severance
Contract
Termination Total

Charges recorded ....................................................................... $ 4,632 $ 8,278 $ 12,910

Payments made.......................................................................... (4,063) (7,913) (11,976)

Impact of change in exchange rates on CAD denominated
liability....................................................................................... (33) (365) (398)

Reserve balance as of December 31, 2020................................ 536 — 536

Payments made.......................................................................... (536) — (536)

Reserve balance as of December 31, 2021................................ $ — $ — $ —

4. Stock-Based Compensation

The Hostess Brands, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) provides forff the granting of various equity-
based incentive awards to members of the Board of Directors of the Company, employees and service providers to
the Company. The types of equity-based awards that may be granted under the 2016 Plan include: stock options,
stock apprecia ation rights (SARs), restricted stock, restricted stock units (RSUs), and other stock-based awards. There
are 7,150,000 registered shares of Class A common stock reserved forff issuance under the 2016 Plan. All awards
issued under the 2016 Plan may only be settled in shares of Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2021,
2,128,990 shares remained availablea for issuance under the 2016 Plan.

Share-based compensation expense totaled approxia mately $9.6 million, $8.7 million and $9.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

The fair value of RSU awards is calculated based on the closing market price of the Company’s Class A common
stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense is recognized straight-line over the requisite service period of the
awards, ranging from one to three years.

The vesting of certain RSU awards is contingent upon the Company’s Class A common stock achieving a certain
total stockholder returnt (“TSR”) in relation to a group of its peers, measured over a three year period. Depending on
the actual performance over the measurement period, an award recipient has the opportunity to receive up to 200%
of the granted awards. At December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, there were 359,388, 411,549, and 319,657 RSU
awards with TSR performance conditions outstanding, respectively.
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Upon an employem e’s termination, certain RSU awards provide that unvested awards will be forfeited and the shares
of common stock underlying such awards will become availablea for issuance under the 2016 Plan. Other RSU
awards provide for accelerated vesting upon an employee’s termination under certain circumstances.

The following tablea summarizes the activity of the Company’sm unvested RSUs:

Restricted Stock
Units

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2019................................................................................. 904,135 $ 12.99

Total Granted ............................................................................................................ 628,801 12.99

Forfeited..................................................................................................................... (198,677) 12.17

Vested(1).................................................................................................................... (285,991) 14.54

Unvested as of December 31, 2020................................................................................. 1,048,268 $ 13.95

Total Granted ............................................................................................................. 953,256 14.78

Forfeited..................................................................................................................... (394,859) 14.62

Vested (2)................................................................................................................... (467,138) 13.60

Unvested as of December 31, 2021................................................................................. 1,139,527 $ 14.62

(1) Includes 78,728 shares withheld to satisfy $1.1 million of employee tax obligations upon vesting.
(2) Includes 92,440 shares withheld to satisfy $1.7 million of employee tax obligations upon vesting.

As of December 31, 2021 there was $9.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, related to non-vested
RSUs granted under the 2016 Plan; that cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period
of approximately 1.8 years. As of December 31, 2021 there were no awards outstanding for which it was not
probable that the performance conditions would be met.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, $7.9 million, $6.3 million and $7.2 million, respectively, of
compensation expense related to the RSUs was recognized within general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations.

Stock OptiO ons

The following tablea includes the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of options issued under the 2016
plan.

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Expected volatility (1) ............................................................................................................................................. 26.3%
Expected dividend yield (2)..................................................................................................................................... —%

Expected option term (3) ......................................................................................................................................... 6.00 years

Risk-free rate (4)...................................................................................................................................................... 1.6%

(1) The expected volatility assumption was calculated based on a peer group analysis of stock price volatility with a look back period
based on the expected term and ending on the grant date.

(2) From its inception through December 31, 2021, the Company has not paid any dividends on its common stock. As of the stock option
grant date, it was assumed that no dividends would be paid on common stock over the term of the stock options. Option holders have
no right to dividends prior to the exercise of the options.

(3) The Company utilized the simplified method to determine the expected term of the stock options since the Company does not have
sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term.

(4) The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant which corresponds to the expected
term of the stock options.
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The stock options vest in equal annual installments on varying dates through 2022. The maximum term under the
grant agreement is ten years. As of December 31, 2021, there was $0.9 million of total unrecognized compensatm ion
cost related to non-vested stock options outstanding under the 2016 Plan; that cost is expected to be recognized over
the vesting periods. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, there was $1.7 million, $2.4 million
and $2.0 million, respectively, of expense related to the stock options recognized within general and administrative
costs on the consolidated statements of operations. The weighted average grant-date faiff r value of options granted in
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4.04, and $3.76, respectively.

The following tablea summarizes the activity of the Company’sm unvested stock options:

Number
of

Options

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
(years)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 ..................... 1,717,671 8.35 $ 13.35
Granted................................................................. 703,329 — 13.69
Exercised .............................................................. (44,257) — 11.35 $ 50,424
Forfeited ............................................................... (305,628) — 13.93

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 ..................... 2,071,115 7.95 $ 13.43
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 ...................... 787,671 7.01 $ 14.20
Exercised .............................................................. (312,067) — 13.29 949,237
Forfeited ............................................................... (297,163) — 14.42

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 ..................... 1,461,885 6.98 $ 13.26 10,467,312
Exercisable as of December 31, 2021 ...................... 882,042 6.55 $ 13.43 6,161,144

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the folff lowing:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020

Land and buildings ........................................................................................................ $ 70,692 $ 59,774
Right of use assets - operating....................................................................................... 32,192 31,354
Machinery and equipment............................................................................................. 299,071 255,821
Construction in progress................................................................................................ 26,027 25,041

427,982 371,990
Less accumulated depreciation................................................................................ (92,677) (68,031)

$ 335,305 $ 303,959

Depreciation expense was $23.5 million, $23.1 million and $17.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020, 2019, respectively.
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6. Segment Reporting

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had one reportable segment: Snacking. For the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company had two reportable segments: Snacking and In-Store Bakery. The
Company’s Snacking segment consists of sweet baked goods, cookies, wafers and bread products that are sold under
the Hostess®, Voortman®, Dolly Madison®, Cloverhill® and Big Texas® brands. The In-Store Bakery segment
consisted primarily of Superior on Main® branded and private labela products sold through the in-store bakery
section of grocery and club su tores. The Company divested its In-Store Bakery operations on August 30, 2019.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on net revenue and gross profit. Information
regarding the operations of these reportable segments is as followff s:

(In thousands)( )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Net revenue:
Snacking ........................................................................... $ 1,142,036 $ 1,016,609 $ 878,973
In-Store Bakery................................................................. — — 28,702
Net revenue....................................................................... $ 1,142,036 $ 1,016,609 $ 907,675

Depreciation and amortization (1):
Snacking ........................................................................... $ 51,681 $ 54,940 $ 41,732
In-Store Bakery................................................................. — — 1,602
Depreciation and amortization ......................................... $ 51,681 $ 54,940 $ 43,334

Gross profit:
Snacking ........................................................................... $ 409,983 $ 355,639 $ 293,648
In-Store Bakery................................................................. — — 6,186
Gross profit ....................................................................... $ 409,983 $ 355,639 $ 299,834

Capital expenditures (2):
Snacking ........................................................................... $ 62,951 $ 58,953 $ 35,354
In-Store Bakery................................................................. — — 182
Capital expenditures ......................................................... $ 62,951 $ 58,953 $ 35,536

(1) Depreciation and amortization include charges to net income classified as costs of goods sold and general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

(2) Capital expenditures consists of purchases of property and equipment and acquisition and development of software assets paid in
cash or acquired through accounts payable.

For the years presented, total assets on the consolidated balance sheets are entirely attributed to the Snacking
segment.
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were recognized as part of the Hostess Business
Combination and the Voortman and Cloverhill Business acquisitions.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized an impaim rment charge of $1.0 million related to
its In-Store Bakery reporting unit, within other operating expense on the consolidated statement of operations.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company divested its In-Store Bakery segment (see Note 2. Business
Combinations and Divestitures).t G d iloodwilll acti iivi yty iis presented bd b lelow ffor hthe Snackingking reportablblea gsegment:

(In thousands)( ) Snacking

Balance as of December 31, 2019...................................................................................................................... $ 535,853

Acquisition of Voortman.................................................................................................................................... 170,762

Balance as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 ...................................................................................................... $ 706,615

Intangible assets consist of the following:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020

Intangible assets with indefinite lives (Trademarks and Trade Names) ........................ $ 1,538,631 $ 1,538,631

Intangible assets with definite lives (Customer Relationships) ..................................... 526,813 526,813

Less accumulated amortization (Customer Relationships) ......................................... (121,052) (97,541)

Intangible assets, net ...................................................................................................... $ 1,944,392 $ 1,967,903

The Company recognized additional trade names and customer relationships intangible assets during the year ended
December 31, 2020 related to the acquisition of Voortman. See Note 2. Business Combinations and Divestitures forff
additional details.

Amortization expense was $23.5 million, $26.5 million and $23.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019 respectively.

Future expected amortization expense is as follows:

(In thousands)( )

2022.................................................................................................................................................................... $ 23,512

2023.................................................................................................................................................................... 23,512

2024.................................................................................................................................................................... 23,512

2025.................................................................................................................................................................... 22,751

2026.................................................................................................................................................................... 22,751

2027 and thereafter............................................................................................................................................. 289,723
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8. Accrued Expenses

Included in accrued expenses are the folff lowing:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020

Incentive compensation................................................................................................. $ 21,172 $ 16,199

Payroll, vacation and other compensation..................................................................... 7,791 9,886

Accrued interest............................................................................................................. 4,828 4,815

Interest rate and foreign currency contracts .................................................................. 2,042 13,694

Other.............................................................................................................................. 11,176 11,121

$ 47,009 $ 55,715

9. Tax Receivable Agreement

Concurrent with the Hostess Business Combination, the Company entered into a tax receivable agreement that
generally provides forff the payment by the Company to the legacy equity holders of Hostess Holdings of 85% of the
net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income taxes that the Company realizes (or is deemed to
realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the closing of the business combination (which periods may extend,
unless the tax receivable agreement is terminated early in accordance with its terms, for more than 15 years
following any exchange of Class B Units of Hostess Holdings for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock
or the cash equivalent thereof) as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis resulting from the 2016 acquisition; (ii)
certain tax attributes of Hostess Holdings and its subsidiaries existing prior to the 2016 acquisition and prior to
subsequent exchanges of Class B Units; (iii) certain increases in tax basis resulting from exchanges of Class B Units;
(iv) imputed interest deemed to be paid by the Company as a result of payments it makes under the tax receivable
agreement; and (v) certain increases in tax basis resulting from payments the Company makes under the tax
receivable agreement. The Company will retain the benefit of the remaining 15% of these cash savings. Certain
payments under the tax receivable agreement will be made to the Metropoulos Entities in accordance with specified
percentages, regardless of the source of the applicable tax attribute. The Company recognizes a liabila ity on the
consolidated balance sheet based on the undiscounted estimated futureff payments under the tax receivable agreement.
Significant inputs used to estimate the futurett expected payments include a 26.2% cash tax savings rate.

The following tablea summarizes activity related to the tax receivable agreement obligations:

(In thousands)( )

Balance December 31, 2019 ................................................................................................................ $ 138,196

Exchange of Class B units for Class A shares .................................................................................. 27,915
Remeasurement due to tax law change............................................................................................. 610
Remeasurement due to change in estimated state tax rate................................................................ 150

Payments ........................................................................................................................................... (10,327)

Balance December 31, 2020 ................................................................................................................ $ 156,544

Remeasurement due to change in estimated state tax rate ................................................................ (1,409)

Payments ........................................................................................................................................... (9,270)

Balance December 31, 2021 ................................................................................................................ $ 145,865
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As of December 31, 2021 the future expected payments under the tax receivable agreement are as followff s:

(In thousands)( )

2022.................................................................................................................................................................... $ 11,600

2023.................................................................................................................................................................... 10,300

2024.................................................................................................................................................................... 10,100

2025.................................................................................................................................................................... 9,400

2026.................................................................................................................................................................... 9,600

Thereafter ........................................................................................................................................................... 94,865

10. Debt

On January 3, 2020, the Company originated a $140.0 million incremental term loan through an amendment to its
existing credit agreement. The Company received proceeds of $136.9 million, net of fees incurred of $3.1 million.
The proceeds, together with cash on hand, financed the purchase of Voortman (see Note 2. Business Combinations
and Divestitures). The terms, conditions and covenants appla icable to the incremental term loan are the same as the
terms, conditions and covenants appla icable to the Fourth Term Loan, defined below. The term loan requires
quarterly payments of interest at a rate of the greater of the applicablea LIBOR or 0.75% per annum plus a margin of
2.25% per annum and principal payments at a rate of 0.25% of the aggregate principal balance per quarter with the
remaining principal amount due upon maturity on August 3, 2025.

A term loan was originated on October 1, 2019 through an amendment to an existing credit agreement held by the
Company’s subsidiary, Hostess Brands, LLC (referred to as the “Fourth Term Loan”). It requires quarterly payments
of interest at a rate of the greater of the applicablea LIBOR or 0.75% per annum (“New LIBOR Floor”) plus a margin
of 2.25% per annum and principal at a rate of 0.25% of the aggregate principal balance with the remaining principal
amount due upon maturity on August 3, 2025. The Fourth Term Loan is secured by substantially all of Hostess
Brands, LLC’s present and futureff assets.

The Fourth Term Loan refinanced the remaining balance of $976.4 million on the Third New First Lien Term Loan
(“Third Term Loan”) through a non-cash refinancing transaction. The Third Term Loan was originated through an
amendment to an existing credit agreement held by Hostess Brands, LLC on November 20, 2017 and required
quarterly payments of interest at a rate equal to the New LIBOR Floor plus a margin of 2.50% per annum and
principal at a rate of 0.25% of the aggregate principal balance.

A summary of the carrying value of the debt and the lease obligations is as follows:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020

Term loan (3.0% as of December 31, 2021)

Principal .................................................................................................................... $ 1,091,596 $ 1,102,763

Unamortized debt premiums, discounts and issuance costs...................................... (3,679) (4,917)

1,087,917 1,097,846

Lease obligations........................................................................................................... 26,228 29,002

Total debt and lease obligations ................................................................................ 1,114,145 1,126,848

Less: Amounts due within one year .......................................................................... (14,170) (13,811)

Long-term portion ......................................................................................................... $ 1,099,975 $ 1,113,037

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the approximate faiff r value of the Company’s aggregate term loan balance was
$1,090.2 million and $1,109.3 million, respectively. The fair value is calculated using current interest rates and
pricing from financial institutions (Level 2 inputs).
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At December 31, 2021, minimum debt repayments under the Fourth Term Loan are due as follows:

(In thousands)( )

2022.................................................................................................................................................................... $ 11,167

2023.................................................................................................................................................................... 11,167

2024.................................................................................................................................................................... 11,167

2025.................................................................................................................................................................... 1,058,095

Revolvill ngii Credit Faciliii tyii

On October 1, 2019, Hostess Brands, LLC amended its Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”), providing for
borrowings up to $100.0 million, a stated maturitt y date of August 3, 2024 and secured by liens on substantially all of
Hostess Brands, LLC’s present and future assets, including accounts receivable and inventories, as defined in the
Revolver. The Revolver is ranked equally with the Fourth Term Loan in regards to secured liens. The Revolver has
an annual commitment fee on the unused portion of between 0.375% and 0.50% annually based upon the unused
percentage. Interest on borrowings under the Revolver is, at Hostess Brands, LLC’s option, either the applicablea
LIBOR plus a margin of 2.25% per annum or the base rate plus a margin of 1.25% per annum.

Prior to the amendment, the Revolver originated on August 3, 2015 had interest on borrowings at Hostess Brands,
LLC’s option, of either the applicablea LIBOR plus a margin of between 3.00% and 3.50% per annum or the base
rate plus a margin of 2.00% to 2.50% per annum.

The Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Revolver as of December 31, 2021 or 2020. See Note 15.
Commitments and Contingencies forff information regarding the letters of credit, which reduce the amount available
for borrowing under the Revolver. The Revolver contains certain restrictive financial covenants. As fof Dece bmber 31,
2021, thhe Com ypany wa is in compliliance wiithh thhese covenants.

11. Derivative Instruments

Warrantstt

As part of its initial public offering in 2015, the Company issued public and private placement warrants. Each
warrant entitled its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Class A common stock at an exercise price of $5.75
per half share, to be exercised only for a whole number of shares of Class A common stock. As of December 31,
2021 there were no public or private placement warrants outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, 53,936,776 public
warrantr s and 541,658 private placement warrants were outstanding.

In July 2021, the agreement governing the Company’s public and private placement warrants was amended.
Subsequent to the amendment, the exercise price forff all outstanding warrantr s was payablea through a “cashless
exercise” with a premium of $0.25 added to the valuation price of each share for purposes of calculating the number
of shares issuable uponu exercise of the warrants. Subsequent to this amendment, 51,595,844 warrants were exercised
on a cashless basis, resulting in the issuance of 9,822,909 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. All
remaining warrants expired on November 4, 2021.

The warrant agreement contained a tender offer provision that when paired with a two-class equity structure caused
all warrants to be precluded fromff equity classification. Subsequent to the collapse of the two-class structurett in
November 2020 when all remaining Class B shares were exchanged forff Class A shares, the tender offer provision no
longer precluded the public warrants fromff being equity-classified. As a result, the $68.5 million liability related to
the public warrants was reclassified to equity in November 2020. There were provisions specific to the private
warrants which caused them to continue to be liability classifieff d subsequent to the exchange, through their final
expiration in November 2021. The fair value of the warrants is measured on a recurring basis by comparison to
available market information. The value of each public warrant up until they were no longer classified as liabila ities
was based on the public trading price of the warrant (Level 1 fairff value measurement). The fair value of each private
warrant was evaluated and determined to be substantially the same as that of a public warrant and therefore
considered to be a Level 2 fairff value measurement. Gains and losses related to the warrants are reflected in the
change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Interest Rate Swaps

To reduce the effect of interest rate flucff tuations, the Company entered into an interest rate swap ca ontract with a
counter party to make a series of payments based on a fixeff d interest rate of 1.78% in addition to term loan margin of
2.25% and receive a series of payments based on the greater of LIBOR or 0.75%. Both the fixed and floating
payment streams are based on a notional amount of $500 million at the inception of the contract and are reduced by
$100 million each year of the five-year contract. As of December 31, 2021, the notional amount was $100 million.
The Company entered into this transaction to reduce its exposure to changes in cash flows associated with its
variable rate debt and has designated this derivative as a cash flowff hedge. At December 31, 2021, the interest on the
Company’s variablea rate debt hedged by this contract is effectively fixeff d at 4.03%.

In 2020, the Company entered into additional five-year interest rate swap ca ontracts to furtheff r reduce the effect of
interest rate fluctff uatt ions on its variable-rate debt. The notional value of these contracts was $500 million. Under the
terms of the contracts, the Company makes quarterly payments based on fixed interest rates ranging from 1.11% to
1.64% in addition to term loan margin of 2.25% and receives quarterly payments based on the greater of LIBOR or
0.75%. The Company has designated these contracts as cash flow hedges. At December 31, 2021, the interest on the
Company's variablea rate debt hedged by these contracts is effectively fixeff d at rates ranging from 3.36% to 3.89%.

In February 2022, the Company entered into a three-year interest rate swap ca ontract with a notional value of
$200 million to further reduce the effect of interest rate fluctff uattt ions on its variable-rate term loan. Under the terms
of the contract, the Company will make quarterly payments based on a fixeff d interest rate of 2.06% in addition to
term loan margin of 2.25% and receive quarterly payments based on the greater of LIBOR or 0.75%.

Foreign Currency Contracts

To reduce the effect of flucff tuations in CAD denominated expenses relative to their U.S. dollar equivalents
originating from its Canadian operations, the Company entered into CAD purchase contracts duringd the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020. The contracts that remain outstanding at December 31, 2021 provide for the Company
to sell a total of $12.4 million USD for $15.5 million of CAD at varying defined settlement dates through the end of
2022. The Company has designated these contracts as cash flow hedges.

In connection with the agreement to purchase Voortman as described in Note 2. Business Combinations and
Divestitures, the Company entered into a deal-contingent foreign currency contract to hedge the $440 million CAD
forecasted purchase price and a portion of the subsequent expected conversion costs. The contract was settled in
cash following the completion of the purchase on January 3, 2020.

A summary of the fair value of foreign currency and interest rate contracts is as follows:

(In thousands)( )
December 31,

2021
December 31,

2020

Asset derivatives Location

Interest rate swap contracts (1) Other non-current assets ................ $ 1,803 $ —

Liability derivatives Location

Interest rate swap contracts (1) Accrued expenses .......................... $ 1,798 $ 13,688

Foreign currency contracts (2) Accrued expenses .......................... 244 6

$ 2,042 $ 13,694

(1) The fair values of interest rate swap contracts are measured on a recurring basis by netting the discounted future fixed cash
payments and the discounted expected variable cash receipts. The variable cash receipts are based on the expectation of future
interest rates (forward curves) derived from observed market interest rate curves (Level 2).

(2) The fair values of foreign currency contracts are measured on a recurring basis by comparison to available market information on
similar contracts (Level 2).
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A summary of the gains and losses related to foreign currency and interest rate contracts in the consolidated
statements of operations is as follows:

(In thousands)( )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Gain (loss) on derivative contracts
designated as cash flow hedges Location

Interest rate swap contracts Interest expense, net ...................... $ (4,563) $ (3,886) $ 1,705

Foreign currency contracts Cost of goods sold......................... 60 — —

$ (4,503) $ (3,886) $ 1,705

Gain (loss) on other derivative
contracts

Location

Foreign currency contracts Gain on foreign currency contract. $ — $ — $ 7,128

Foreign currency contracts Other expense................................ — (274) —

$ — $ (274) $ 7,128

For interest rate swap ca ontracts, unrealized expense recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income as of
December 31, 2021 of $3.5 million is expected to be reclassified into interest expense through December 31, 2022.

For foreign currency contracts, unrealized expense recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income as of
December 31, 2021 of $0.2 million is expected to be reclassified into cost of goods sold through December 31,
2022.

12. Equity

The Company’s authorized common stock consists of three classes: 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock,
50,000,000 shares of Class B Stock, and 10,000,000 shares of Class F common stock (none of which were issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2021 or 2020). As of December 31, 2021 there were 142,031,329 shares of Class
A common stock issued, 138,278,573 shares of Class A common stock outstanding and 3,752,756 shares of treasury
stock. As of December 31, 2020 there were 130,791,908 shares of Class A common stock issued, 130,347,464
shares of Class A common stock outstanding and 444,444 shares of treasury stock. As of December 31, 2021 and
2020 there were no shares of Class B Stock issued or outstanding.

Shares of Class A common stock and Class B Stock have identical voting rights. However, shares of Class B Stock
do not participate in earnings or dividends of the Company. During the year ended December 31, 2020, all
remaining outstanding Class B Units were exchanged forff Class A common Stock. Ownership of shares of Class B
Stock was restricted to owners of Class B Units in Hostess Holdings. Class B Units in Hostess Holdings could be
exchanged (together with the cancellation of an equivalent number of shares of Class B Stock) by the holders thereof
for, at the election of the Company, shares of Class A common stock or the cash equivalent of such shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a securities repurchase
program of up to $100 million of the Company’s outstanding securities. As of December 31, 2021, $38.9 million
remained availablea for use under this program.

HOSTESS BRANDS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

70



13. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributablea to the Company’s Class A stockholders for
the period by the weighted average number of Class A common shares outstanding for the period excluding non-
vested restricted stock awards. In computim ng dilutive earnings per share, basic earningsr per share is adjusted forff the
assumed issuance of all applicable potentially dilutive share-based awards, including: public and private placement
warrants, RSUs, restricted stock awards, and stock options.

Below are basic and diluted earnings per share:
Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Numerator: (in thousands)

Net income attributable to Class A stockholdersk - basic ........................... $ 119,299 $ 104,676 $ 4,299

Impact of change in fair value of warrant liabilities .................................. (566) (39,941) —

Numerator for diluted earnings per share $ 118,733 $ 64,735 $ 4,299

Denominator:

Weighted-average Class A shares outstanding - basic (excluding non-
vested restricted stock awards) .................................................................. 131,571,733 124,927,535 110,540,264

Dilutive effect of warrants ......................................................................... 5,841,062 2,525,863 —
Dilutive effect of RSUs.............................................................................. 588,250 270,090 465,425

Dilutive effect of stock options.................................................................. 197,131 — —

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted ......................................... 138,198,176 127,723,488 111,005,689

Earnings per Class A share - basic............................................................. $ 0.91 $ 0.84 $ 0.04

Earnings per Class A share - dilutive......................................................... $ 0.86 $ 0.51 $ 0.04

For warrants that are liability-classified, during periods when the impacm t is dilutive, the Company assumes share
settlement of the instruments as of the beginning of the reporting period and adjusts the numerator to remove the
change in fair value of the warrant liability and adjusts the denominator to include the dilutive shares calculated
using the treasury stock method.

Stock options that were excluded fromff the computation of diluted weighted average shares, because their effect was
anti-dilutive were 2,010, 477,923 and 365,551 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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14. Income Taxes

The income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

(In thousands)( )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019
Current tax expense
Federal .......................................................................................................... $ 17,430 $ 2,120 $ 1,724
State and local............................................................................................... 4,088 1,479 1,047
Total Current ................................................................................................... 21,518 3,599 2,771

Deferred tax expense (benefit)
Federal .......................................................................................................... 13,509 17,204 14,859
State and local............................................................................................... 3,077 3,750 (738)
Foreign.......................................................................................................... 2,409 (4,148) —
Total Deferred ................................................................................................. 18,995 16,806 14,121
Income tax expense, net .................................................................................. $ 40,513 $ 20,405 $ 16,892

Income (loss) before income taxes consists of the following:

(In thousands)( )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Earnings before income taxes

United States................................................................................................. $ 149,360 $ 144,075 $ 35,641

Foreign.......................................................................................................... 10,452 (15,373) —

Income before income taxes ......................................................................... $ 159,812 $ 128,702 $ 35,641

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the effective income tax rate differs from the federal
statutory income tax rate as explained below:

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate ......................................................... 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ................................................... (0.1) (6.5) 34.7
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit .................................... 5.6 2.8 12.3
Income attributable to non-controlling interest ........................................... — (0.6) (8.5)
Foreign rate differential ............................................................................... 0.3 (0.6) —
Change in state tax rate................................................................................ (1.9) 0.6 (12.8)
Tax law change............................................................................................ — (0.8) —
Other ............................................................................................................ 0.5 — 0.7
Effective income tax rate............................................................................. 25.4 % 15.9 % 47.4 %

Deferred income taxes are provided forff the effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or
liability and its reported amount in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These temporary differences
result in taxablea or deductible amounts in future years.
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Details of the Company’sm deferred tax assets and liabia lities are summarized as follff ows:

(In thousands)( )

As of
December 31,

2021

As of
December 31,

2020

Deferred tax assets

Imputed interest ......................................................................................................................... $ 6,478 $ 6,744

Tax credits ................................................................................................................................. 3,011 4,582

Derivative instruments............................................................................................................... — 3,495

Net operating loss carryforwards............................................................................................... — 2,601

Accrued liabilities ..................................................................................................................... 7,080 4,870

Stock-based compensation ........................................................................................................ 3,588 3,449

Other .......................................................................................................................................... 5,367 4,443

Total deferred tax assets ............................................................................................................ 25,524 30,184

Deferred tax liabilities .............................................................................................................

Goodwill and intangible assets .................................................................................................. (291,024) (277,563)

Property and equipment............................................................................................................. (51,272) (46,732)

Other .......................................................................................................................................... (1,075) (898)

Total deferred tax liabilities....................................................................................................... (343,371) (325,193)

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities ................................................................................ $ (317,847) $ (295,009)

The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on management’s belief that it is more likely than not that the tax
benefits associated with temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits will be utilized. The
Company assesses the recoverabila ity of the deferred tax assets on an ongoing basis. In making this assessment, the
Company considers all positive and negative evidence, and all potential sources of taxable income including
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabia lities, tax-planning strategies, projected future taxable income and recent
financial performance.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, Hostess had gross state credit carryforwardsrr of $3.8 million and $5.8 million
respectively. The carryforwards relate primarily to Kansas High Performance Incentive Program credits and will
expire in years 2027 and 2036 if not utilized.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company had $3.1 million and $12.3 million, respectively, of current income
taxes receivable included in prepaids and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

The global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) provisions require the Company to include in its U.S. income tax
returntt foreign subsidiary earnings in excess of an allowable returnt on the foreign subsidiary’s tangible assets. The
Company is electing to account for GILTI tax in the period in which it is incurred.
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The Company recognizes in the consolidated financial statements the benefit of a tax position only if the impactm is
more likely than not of being sustained on audit based on the technical merits of the position. As of both
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $1.6 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, which would have
a net $1.6 million impacm t on the effective tax rate, if recognized. The following is a reconciliation of the beginning
and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits:

(In thousands)( )

Balance at January 1, 2020..................................................................................................................................... $ —

Additions for tax positions acquired....................................................................................................................... 1,320

Additions for tax positions of current year............................................................................................................. 240

Balance at December 31, 2020............................................................................................................................... 1,560

Additions for tax positions established during prior periods.................................................................................. 45

Balance at December 31, 2021............................................................................................................................... $ 1,605

Interest and penalties related to income tax liabilities, if incurred, are included in income tax expense in the
consolidated statements.

The Company and its subsidiaries filff e income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state and local
jurisdictions, and certain subsidiaries in Canada. For federal and state tax purposes, the Company and its subsidiaries
are generally subject to examination for three years after the income tax returnst are filed. As such, U.S. federal and
state income tax returnst filed for periods since 2017 remain open for examination by tax authorities. In Canada, tax
returnstt are subject to examination for four years after the notice of assessment is issued. Canadian tax returnst filed
for periods since 2016 remain open for examination.

The Company believes that its forff eign subsidiaries have invested or will invest any undistributed earnings
indefinitely, or the earnings will be remitted in a tax-neutral transaction, and, therefore, does not provide deferred
taxes on the cumulative undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Accruals and the PotPP entitt alii Effecff t of Lo itigattt iontt

From time to time, the Company is subject to lawsuits, claims and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business. These matters may involve personnel and employment issues, personal injury, contracts and other
proceedings. Based upon information presently known, the Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of
such matters will have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, although the final resolution of such
matters could have a material effect on its results of operations or cash flowsff in the period of resolution.

Liabilities related to legal proceedings are recorded when it is probable that a liabia lity has been incurred and the
associated amount can be reasonably estimated. Where the estimated amount of loss is within a range of amounts
and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the low end of the range is accrued. As
additional information becomes available, the potential liabilities related to these matters are reassessed and the
estimates revised, if necessary. These accrued liabilities are subject to change in the future based on new
developments in each matter, or changes in circumstances, which could have a material effect on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
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Lease Commitments

Operatingii Leases

As of December 31, 2021 the Company has leases outstanding for certain office spaces, Burlington, Ontario bakery
and primary distribution center under noncancellable operating lease arrangements. The future minimum lease
payments under these agreements as of December 31, 2021 are shown below.

(In thousands)

2022 ............................................................................................................................................................. $ 4,813

2023 ............................................................................................................................................................. 4,467

2024 ............................................................................................................................................................. 5,102

2025 ............................................................................................................................................................. 5,257

2026 ............................................................................................................................................................. 2,735

Thereafter..................................................................................................................................................... 6,890

Total lease payments ................................................................................................................................... 29,264

Reconciling impact from discounting.......................................................................................................... (3,036)

Total lease liabilities.................................................................................................................................... $ 26,228

Financii ing Leases

The Company entered into a bond-lease agreement with the Development Authority ot f Columbus, Georgia on
December 1, 2013, which was amended in December, 2016. The bond-lease transaction required the Company to
exchange its property to the taxing jurisdiction for tax-exempt bonds issued in the name of the Company not to
exceed $18 million. As the issuer and holder of the bonds, the Company is not required to make lease payments. On
December 16, 2013, the Company received an ad valorem tax agreement from the Columbus, Georgia Board of Tax
Assessors granting tax abaa tement for the real and personal property located at the Company’s Columbus, Georgia
bakery through 2023. The Company has elected to use the right of offset under ASC 210-20 to net the asset and the
liability.
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The table below shows the composition of lease expenses for the period:

(In thousands)( )

Year Ended
December 31,

2021

Year Ended
December 31,

2020

Year Ended
December 31,

2019

Reduction of right of use asset, financing lease ...... $ — $ — $ 133

Interest, financing lease ........................................... — — 16

Operating lease expense .......................................... 6,420 5,722 3,070

Short-term lease expense ......................................... 1,945 2,633 968

Variable lease expense............................................. 1,450 1,763 1,076

$ 9,815 $ 10,118 $ 5,263

For short-term leases, the Company records rent expense in its consolidated statements of operations on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Variablea lease payments, which primarily include taxes, insurance and common area
maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Lease expenses are classified as operating activities within the consolidated
statements of cash flows.ff During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company amended the existing lease for its
Burlington, Ontario bakery. The amendment extended the lease term through October 2030 and provided forff two
five-year extensions, at the Company’s option. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company entered into
a lease agreement for its new distribution center in Edgerton, Kansas. The agreement has a base term of six and a
half years with two five year extensions. The right of use asset and lease liability were calculated using the six and a
half year term.

Contractual CommCC itmett nts

The Company is a party to various long-term arrangements through advance purchase contracts to lock in prices for
certain high-volume raw materials and packaging componentm s forff normal product production requirements. These
advance purchase arrangements are contractual agreements and can only be canceled with a termination penalty that
is based upon the current market price of the commodity at the time of cancellation. These agreements qualify for
the “normal purchase” exception under accounting standards; and the purchases under these contracts are included
as a component of cost of goods sold.

Contractualt commitments were as follows:

(In thousands)( )
Total

Committed
Commitments
within 1 year

Commitments
beyond 1 year

Ingredients..................................................................................................... $ 102,610 $ 92,955 $ 9,655

Packaging...................................................................................................... 89,906 89,906 —

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into a real estate purchase agreement to acquire a
facility in Arkadelphia, Arkansas for a total purchase price of $11.5 million. The transaction closed on February 22,
2022. The facility will become the Company’s sixth bakery in North America upon completion of capita al
investments to install production lines and other necessary improvements needed to make the facility operational.

Letterstt of Credit

hThe Compa yny iis a partyy to Letter off Credidit garrangements to idprovide ffor hthe iissuance fof standbyndby lletters fof credidit iin
hthe amount fof $6.0 million dand $$5.5 imilllliion ffor hthe yyears d dended 2021 dand 2020, respec iti lvelyy. hThe garrangements
support hthe lcolllate lral irequirement fs forff iinsurance. Thhe Letters fof Credidit are 100% securedd throughhrough our Re lvolver.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation Of Discii losure ControlCC s All nd Procedures

We have establia shed disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), that are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filff ed or submitted under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and that information relating to the Company is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Interim Chief Financial Officer, we
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31,
2021, the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Interim
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effectff ive as of December 31,
2021 at a level of reasonable assurance.

(b) Management’s Report On InteII rnal Control Over Financial Reportinge

Our management is responsible for establia shing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as defined in Exchange Act RuleRR 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission. Based
on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2021. The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control of financial reporting as of December 31,
2021 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which appears herein.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportie ng

Subsequent to the filing of our annual report on February 24, 2021, management identified a material weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for and classification of our warrant
agreements, due to the lack of an effectively designed control over the evaluation of the underlying clauses of the
warrant agreement, and an insufficient understanding of the warrant agreement and accounting literaturet to reach a
correct conclusion. As a result, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2020.

Since identifying the material weakness, we have implem mented changes to our control structurett to remediate the
control deficiency that gave rise to the material weakness. We remediated this material weakness through testing the
operational effectiveness of the controls duringd the fourth quarter of 2021.

Other than as noted abovea , duringdd the year ended December 30, 2021, there was no change in our internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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The information required by this item is contained in our definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.*

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is contained in our definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.*

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this item is contained in our definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.*

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is contained in our definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.*

Item 14. Priin icipal Accountant Fees and SSer ivices

Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Kansas City, MO, Auditor Firm ID: 185.

The information required by this item is contained in our definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be filed
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.*

*Information updated fromff original filing to correct an administrative error.

Part IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

See d“Index to c lionsoliddat ded fifina inci lal statements i” in Part II, Item 8 of thihis Annuall Report on Form 10-K. iFina inci lal
statement h d lschedules hhave bbeen o imitt ded bbecause theythey are not irequi dred or are not lappliic blable o br because thhe
i finformatiion irequi dred iin hthose sch d lhedules eiithhe ir is not mate iriall o ir i is incl dluded id in hthe liconsoliddat ded fifina inci lal statements
or hthe accompanyipanyim gng notes.
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